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AT A GLANCE

EVOLUTION OF THE BANK’S KEY FIGURES
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BALANCE SHEET
ASSETS

The Bank of Greece's assets as at 31 December 2024 amounted to EUR 219.3 billion,
down by EUR 7.2 billion compared with the previous year. Underlying this change is
principally a decline in lending to euro area credit institutions related to monetary
policy operations denominated in euro, mainly as a result of the maturity and early
repayment of the last outstanding Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operations
(TLTRO Il1), as well as a decrease in the monetary policy portfolios, mainly due to ma-
turities under the Public Sector Purchase Program (PSPP). These were partly offset by
an increase in the Bank's investment portfolio.

The evolution of the main assets over the past five years is shown in the chart below:
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The Bank of Greece's total assets increased significantly over the period 2020-2022,
mainly due to the purchases of debt securities in the context of the implementation
of the monetary policy of the Eurosystem. In particular, the total assets' increase in
2020 and 2021 was mainly the result of net purchases of securities under the Asset
Purchase Programme (APP)' and the launch of the Pandemic Emergency Purchase Pro-
gramme (PEPP)? in 2020. From 2023 onwards total assets decreased, mainly due to
early repayment and maturity of TLTRO Il operations, as well as net maturities under
the APP, specifically the PSPP portfolio.

1 The Asset Purchase Programme (APP) portfolio comprises the third Covered Bond Purchase Programme (CBPP3),
the Asset-Backed Securities Purchase Programme (ABSPP), the Public Sector Purchase Programme (PSPP) and the
Corporate Sector Purchase Programme (CSPP). The Bank of Greece did not participate in the ABSPP and CSPP, and
only holds supranational securities and multilateral development banks' securities under the PSPP. More details on
the APP portfolio are available on the ECB's website.

2 More details on the PEPP portfolio are available on the ECB's website.
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Lending to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy operations deno-
minated in euro decreased by EUR 11.7 billion and amounted to EUR 2.6 billion as at
31 December 2024, compared with EUR 14.3 billion as at 31 December 2023, mainly
as a result of the maturity and early repayment of TLTRO IIl operations amounting to
EUR 13.6 billion and EUR 0.7 billion, respectively. In addition, credit institutions were
financed through main refinancing operations and longer-term (3-month) refinancing
operations totalling EUR 1.1 billion and EUR 1.5 billion, respectively, as at 31 December
2024. It should be noted that, as at 31 December 2023, there were no outstanding
operations of this type.

e TLTRO Ill operations

Following seven quarterly Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operations (TLTROs III)
introduced in 2019, the Governing Council of the ECB decided in December 2020 to
introduce three further operations, which were conducted between June and Decem-
ber 2021. These operations had a three-year maturity, thus the last operation matured
in 2024. The participants had the option, on a quarterly basis, of terminating or re-
ducing the amount of a TLTRO Ill operation before maturity.

For the period from 24 June 2020 to 23 June 2022, the borrowing rates on these ope-
rations can be as low as 50 basis points below the average interest rate on the Deposit
Facility (DFR), but in any case may not become less negative than -1%. For the remaining
period until maturity they may not be lower than the average DFR during this period.
On 27 October 2022, the Governing Council decided that, from 23 November 2022 until
the maturity date or early repayment date of each respective outstanding TLTRO Ill ope-
ration, the interest rate on these operations would be indexed to the average applicable
key ECB interest rates over this period.

The actual interest rates could only be known at the maturity or early repayment of
each operation and, prior to that, a reliable estimate was only possible to be used for
calculating the TLTRO lll interest accruals. The DFR was the interest rate applicable to
the Bank of Greece for calculating the TLTRO Il accrued interest for the financial year
2024, as was also the case in the previous year.

Securities held for monetary policy purposes still account for the largest share of the
Bank's total assets (60.9%). The Bank of Greece holds monetary policy securities in the
context of the third Covered Bond Purchase Programme (CBPP3), the Securities Markets
Programme (SMP), the Public Sector Purchase Programme (PSPP) and the Pandemic
Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP). These securities are valued at amortised cost
subject to impairment.

o Asset Purchase Programme (APP)
In 2024, the APP? portfolio continued to decline, as the Eurosystem, since July 2023, no
longer reinvests the principal payments from maturing securities.*

e Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP)

This Programme was launched to address the risks to the monetary policy transmission
mechanism and the pronounced shocks to the euro area economy's growth outlook
due to the pandemic.

Under the PEPP> programme, following a decision by the Governing Council of the
ECB in December 2023,% during the first half of 2024 the Eurosystem continued rein-
vesting, in full, the principal payments from maturing securities. Over the second half
of the year, the PEPP portfolio decreased by EUR 7.5 billion per month on average, as

More details on the APP portfolio are available on the ECB's website.
See "Monetary policy decisions”, ECB press release 15.6.2023.

More details on the PEPP portfolio are available on the ECB’s website.
See "Monetary policy decisions”, ECB press release of 14.12.2023.
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the Eurosystem did not reinvest all of the principal payments from maturing securities.
Reinvestments under the PEPP were discontinued at the end of 2024.

Securities held for Bank of Greece monetary policy purposes as at 31 December 2024
amounted to EUR 133.4 billion, compared with EUR 143.2 billion as at 31 December
2023, down by EUR 9.8 billion.

This change is primarily due to a decline of EUR 9.1 billion in the PSPP portfolio and
of EUR 0.5 billion in the CBPP3 portfolio (see note on asset item 7.1 “Securities held
for monetary policy purposes”).

The structure and size of the monetary policy portfolios of debt securities over the
past five years are presented in the chart below, according to which, as at
31.12.2024:

* 57.1% relates to debt securities under the PEPP?;

e 42.2% concerns securities under the PSPP8; and

e a small percentage of 0.6% concerns debt securities under the CBPP3 and the
SMP.

Monetary policy portfolios: 2020-2024
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The investment portfolio, which the Bank holds for purely investment purposes, in-
cludes euro-denominated bonds and Treasury bills issued by governments of euro area
countries, including the Greek government, foreign currency-denominated bonds and
notes issued by euro area and non-euro area residents, as well as mutual fund
shares/units, fixed-term deposits and current accounts with correspondent banks
(euro area and non-euro area residents) in foreign currency and euro.

The structure and size of the Bank's investment portfolio over the last five years are
presented in the chart below.

As at 31.12.2024, the Bank of Greece only held government debt securities and supranational securities under the
PEPP.

As at 31.12.2024, the Bank of Greece only held supranational securities and multilateral development banks' secu-
rities under the PSPP.
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Investment portfolio: 2020-2024
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As at 31.12.2024, this portfolio amounted to EUR 29.0 billion, compared with EUR
21.5 billion as at 31.12.2023, up by EUR 7.5 billion, mainly due to the purchase of
euro-denominated bonds and treasury bills issued by governments of euro area coun-
tries (other than those of the Greek government).

Regarding the Bank's investments in foreign currency, as at 31.12.2024 most of these
were denominated in US dollars (79%), Chinese yuan (9%) and pounds sterling (7 %).

Remaining maturity of Remaining maturity of
euro-denominated debt euro-denominated debt
securities held for monetary securities held for investment
policy purposes purposes

2024 2024

<1 year

9%

Most of the euro-denominated securities held for both monetary policy and invest-
ment purposes by the Bank have a medium to long-term residual maturity.

BANK OF GREECE
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NET FINANCIAL ASSETS

The financial assets and liabilities on the balance sheets of the Eurosystem's National Central Banks (NCBs) that
are not directly linked to the conduct of monetary policy are usually referred to as “Net Financial Assets” (NFAs).

NFAs arise as a result of central banks' management of their investments, including foreign reserve assets and gold
reserves, deposits from the public and private (non-bank) sector, NCBs' operation as a lender of last resort, etc.
Changes in NFAs affect the level of liquidity available to banks.

For this reason, the Eurosystem has established a relevant agreement on NFAs (Agreement on Net Financial As-
sets — ANFA), which sets the rules and limits to be applied by the NCBs, in order to ensure that non-monetary
policy holdings that are related to national tasks of the NCBs do not interfere with monetary policy. Specifically,
ANFA sets a ceiling on the total amount of net financial assets of all NCBs and their calibration.

17 BANK OF GREECE
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LIABILITIES

The evolution of the key liability items over the past five years is shown in the chart below:

Liabilities: 2020-2024
(amounts in EUR billion)
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The value of euro banknotes in circulation by the Bank of Greece on the basis of the
banknote allocation key amounted to EUR 33.0 billion as at 31.12.2024, compared
with EUR 35.4 billion as at 31.12.2023, down by 6.8%, due to a decrease in the Bank's
banknote allocation key.?
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Bank of Greece's banknote allocation key per year: 2020-2022 (2.2755%), 2023 (2.2575%), 2024
(2.0785%)

As at 31.12.2024, the banknote allocation key of the Bank of Greece was 2.0785%, compared with 2.2575% as at
31.122023, as a result of the five-yearly adjustment of the NCBs' weightings in the key for subscription to the ECB's
capital on 1.1.2024.
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The value of euro banknotes put into circulation by the Bank of Greece fell by 62.7 %
and amounted to EUR 3.8 billion as at 31.12.2024, compared with EUR 10.2 billion as
at 31.12.2023. As this value is lower than the euro banknotes allocated to the Bank,
the difference of EUR 29.2 billion is shown in asset item 9.4 “Net claims related to the
allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem”.

Liabilities to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy operations de-
nominated in euro decreased by EUR 9.0 billion and as at 31.12.2024 their balance
amounted to EUR 19.0 billion, compared with EUR 28.0 billion as at 31.12.2023.

The evolution of liabilities to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy
operations denominated in euro over the last five years is presented in the chart
below.

Liabilities to euro area credit institutions related to monetary
policy operations denominated in euro: 2020-2024
(amounts in EUR billion)
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The current accounts of credit institutions (covering the minimum reserve system)
amounted to EUR 2.5 billion, as at 31.12.2024, unchanged from 31.12.2023. The standing
deposit facility fell significantly by EUR 9.0 billion to EUR 16.5 billion as at 31.12.2024,
compared with EUR 25.5 billion as at 31.12.2023, mainly due to credit institutions' re-
payment of the last outstanding Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operations (TLTROs
Ill). The increase in the standing deposit facility in 2022 is due to the fact that credit in-
stitutions transferred their deposits from their current accounts, as a consequence of
the raise of the Deposit Facility Rate (DFR) above zero as of 14 September 2022.

Liabilities related to TARGET amounted to EUR 115.0 billion as at 31.12.2024, un-
changed from 31.12.2023.

TARGET

TARGET (Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement Express Transfer system) is a system for trans-
ferring funds from one bank to another, both within one country and between countries. National Central Banks
(NCBs) and commercial banks use it to process payments in euro and transfer funds from one bank to another
easily and securely.

TARGET involves the following services: T2 (payment transactions), T2S (securities settlement) and TIPS (instant
payments settlement). Intra-Eurosystem claims and liabilities result from cross-border payments in the European

14
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10 The calculation of the value of the banknotes put into circulation by the Bank of Greece is governed by the provi-

sions of Article 15 paragraph 2(a) of Guideline (EU) 2024/2941 of 14.11.2024 (ECB/2024/31).
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Union and are settled in central bank money in euro. These payments are settled in TARGET and give rise to bi-
lateral balances in the TARGET accounts of ESCB central banks. All settlements are automatically aggregated to
form part of a single position of each NCB vis-a-vis the ECB. The movements in TARGET accounts are reflected
in the accounting records of the ECB and the NCBs on a daily basis. The accumulation over time of these flows
creates the TARGET balances (see lll. Summary of significant accounting policies “i. Intra-ESCB balances/intra-
Eurosystem balances”.

Liabilities related to TARGET : 2020-2024
(amounts in EUR billion)
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The evolution of liabilities related to TARGET over the period 2020-2024 is mainly a
result of changes in the balance of securities held by the Bank both for monetary po-
licy and for investment purposes, to the extent that they refer to cross-border pur-
chases within the Eurosystem.

Revaluation accounts,'" provisions against financial risks, reserves (ordinary, extraor-
dinary and special reserve for financial risks) and equity capital constitute the financial
buffers of the Bank against financial and operational risks.

Revaluation accounts include unrealised gains on the valuation of gold, foreign cur-
rency-denominated financial instruments and debt securities. The revaluation ac-
counts are used to offset the effects of potential adverse fluctuations in prices
and/or exchange rates and thus constitute a first line of defence against the risks to
which the Bank is exposed. As at 31.12.2024, revaluation accounts increased by EUR
3.4 billion, mainly owing to an increase in unrealised gains on the valuation of gold,
as a result of a rise in the price of gold per ounce compared with the previous year
(2,511.069 euro per ounce as at 31.12.2024, vis-a-vis 1,867.828 euro per ounce as
at 29.12.2023).

Following a decision by the Bank's Risk Management Committee, provisions against
financial risks amounting to EUR 133.1 million were released.

The evolution of the level of the Bank's financial buffers over the last five years is
shown in the chart below:

11 Revaluation accounts do not include "Accumulated actuarial gains/losses” resulting from the remeasurement of the
liabilities from the defined benefit plans.
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Total net income amounted to EUR 436.0 million, compared with EUR 543.9 million in
the previous year, down by 19.8%.

Total expenses before provisions amounted to EUR 404.1 million, compared with EUR
367.8 million in the previous year, up by 9.9%.

The Bank's profit before provisions in 2024 amounted to EUR 31.9 million, from EUR
176.1 million in the previous year, having decreased by 81.9%.

Profit for the year amounted to EUR 82.9 million, compared with EUR 98.7 million in
the previous year.

The evolution of the Bank's profit before provisions over the last five years is pre-
sented in the chart below:

Profit before provisions: 2020-2024
(amounts in EUR million)
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In detail, in the current year the Bank'’s income, expenses and provisions were as follows:

e Income

The total net income from the implementation of the single monetary policy of the Eu-
rosystem, interest income on the Bank's investment portfolio, commissions and other in-
come from domestic and cross-border operations came to EUR 436.0 million, from EUR
543.9 million in the previous year, having decreased by 19.8%.

In particular:
¢ Net result from interest, financial operations, write-downs and the reallocation of
the Eurosystem’s monetary income amounted to EUR 191.4 million, from EUR 359.4

million in 2023, having decreased by 46.7%.

e Net income from fees and commissions increased by 6.9% to EUR 148.3 million,
from EUR 138.7 million in the previous year.

e Income from equity instruments and participating interests increased significantly
to EUR 75.3 million, compared with EUR 4.0 million in the previous year.

BANK OF GREECE
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e Finally, other income amounted to EUR 21.0 million, compared with EUR 41.8 million
in the previous year, down by 49.8%.

MONETARY INCOME IN THE EUROSYSTEM

Monetary income

Monetary income is the income accruing to the NCBs of the Eurosystem in the single monetary policy imple-
mentation. In particular, this income - traditionally referred to as seigniorage income - includes the income de-
rived from assets held against banknotes in circulation and deposit liabilities to credit institutions.

Note-issuing privilege

The note-issuing privilege, i.e. the right to issue money, is held exclusively by the European Central Bank (ECB)
and the National Central Banks (NCBs) of the Eurosystem, after being delegated by the Governing Council of
the ECB, in accordance with the Statute of the European System of Central Banks.

The currency is issued in the form of banknotes, the value of which is recorded as a liability on the NCBs' balance
sheet. Against banknotes, NCBs hold assets related to the implementation of monetary policy and have deposit
liabilities to credit institutions. These assets generate interest income for the NCBs and credit institutions' deposits
incur interest expense. The interest income on these assets - reduced by the interest expense on credit institutions'
deposits — held against the non-interest-bearing liability (banknotes) constitutes seigniorage income.

Reallocation of monetary income

After the introduction of the single currency, a major challenge for the Eurosystem was the fair allocation of monetary
income, as in a monetary union money moves outside the borders of each Member State, with the result that the
banknotes in circulation displayed by the NCBs do not reflect domestic demand.

For this purpose, the amount of monetary income collected by each NCB during the financial year (pooled mone-
tary income) is aggregated at Eurosystem level and then reallocated to NCBs in proportion to their paid-up shares
in the ECB's capital, i.e. based on the allocation key of each NCB (monetary income to which it is legally entitled).
Therefore, if the amount of monetary income to which an NCB is legally entitled is higher than the monetary in-
come pooled by it, then that NCB is entitled to receive monetary income through its reallocation at Eurosystem
level. Obviously, in the opposite case, i.e. when the amount of monetary income to which an NCB is legally entitled
is lower than that pooled by it, then that NCB contributes monetary income so that it is fairly (proportionately)
redistributed to other NCBs that pooled monetary income lower than that they are legally entitled to.

More information on the monetary income is provided in note 3 of the Profit and Loss Account “Net result of
pooling of monetary income”.

Net interest expense amounted to EUR 3,201.0 million, compared with EUR 3,084.5
million in the previous year, up by 3.8%.

Specifically, interest expense increased by EUR 362.7 million to EUR 6,704.3 million,
compared with EUR 6,341.6 million in the previous year, mainly due to an increase in
interest expense on TARGET balances and in interest expense on deposits of general
government bodies and various entities. This was partly offset by a decrease in inte-
rest expense on the standing deposit facility. In particular:

* An increase in interest expense on TARGET balances by EUR 318.9 million, as a result
of the higher average interest rate, namely the Eurosystem’s Main Refinancing Ope-
rations (MRO) rate.

e An increase in interest expense on deposits of the Greek government and general
government bodies and various entities by a total of EUR 226.0 million, as a result
of an increase in the average outstanding amounts of these deposits and their ave-
rage interest rate.

e A decrease in interest expense on the standing deposit facility by EUR 136.0 million,
mainly attributable to a decline in the average outstanding balance.

Interest income increased by EUR 246.2 million to EUR 3,503.3 million, compared with
EUR 3,257.1 million in the previous year, thus offsetting the rise in interest expense. The
increase is mainly attributable to a rise in interest income on debt securities in the PEPP
monetary policy portfolio, in interest income on debt securities in euro (except for Greek
government debt securities) in the investment portfolio, as well as interest income on
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net claims related to the allocation of euro banknotes in circulation within the Eurosy-
stem, which was partly offset by a decrease in interest income on Targeted Longer-Term
Refinancing Operations (TLTRO llI). In particular:

® An increase in interest income on monetary policy portfolios by EUR 186.5 million,
mainly due to arise in interest income on the sovereign and supranational debt se-
curities in the PEPP portfolio, mainly as a result of an increase in their average yield.

e Anincrease in interest income on the investment portfolio by EUR 221.7 million, mainly
due to a rise in interest income on debt securities in euro (except for Greek govern-
ment debt securities) and an increase in their average yield and average balance.

e Anincrease by EUR 204.5 million in interest income on net claims related to the al-
location of euro banknotes in circulation within the Eurosystem, as a result of a rise
in the average interest rate, namely the Eurosystem's Main Refinancing Operations
(MRO) rate, and their average balance.

* A decline in interest income on longer-term refinancing operations by EUR 367.1 million,
mainly owing to the maturity of the last outstanding TLTROs il in this year. The DFR
was the interest rate applicable to the Bank of Greece for calculating the TLTRO Il ac-
crued interest for the financial year 2024, as was also the case in the previous year.

The evolution of net interest income/expense over the last five years is shown in the
following chart.

Net interest income/expenses: 2020-2024
(amounts in EUR million)
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» Expenses before provisions

Expenses before provisions

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
Staff costs and pension benefit expenses 322.6 292.3 30.3
Other administrative expenses 67.8 63.6 4.2
Depreciation costs 13.7 11.9 1.8
Total 404.1 367.8 36.3

Total expenses before provisions amounted to EUR 404.1 million, compared with EUR
367.8 million in the previous year, up by 9.9%.

In particular:

Staff costs and pension benefit expenses amounted to EUR 322.6 million, compared
with EUR 292.3 million in the previous year, up by EUR 30.3 million. In 2024, the ex-
penses of the defined benefit plans that were charged to the Profit and Loss Account
(P&L) amounted to EUR 104.5 million, compared with EUR 92.1 million in the previous
year.

Other administrative expenses totalled EUR 67.8 million, compared with EUR 63.6 mil-
lion in the previous year, up by EUR 4.2 million, mainly due to an increase in the con-
sumption of materials and stationery for the production of goods in the Printing Works
Department (IETA).

Depreciation costs amounted to EUR 13.7 million, compared with EUR 11.9 million in
the previous year, up by EUR 1.8 million.

 Provisions

During the current year, provisions had a positive contribution of EUR 51.0 million to
the Profit and Loss Account, compared with a negative effect of EUR 77.4 million in
the previous year.

Specifically, special provisions of EUR 90.8 million were established (2023: EUR 86.0
million), concerning mainly pending lawsuits by pensioners of the Bank. At the same
time, special provisions of EUR 17.0 million (2023: release of EUR 8.5 million) for ad-
ditional liabilities regarding the retirement of current employees were established,
the amount of which was approximated by an actuarial study. In addition, established
special provisions of EUR 0.8 million were released (2023: EUR 0.1 million), concerning
other pending lawsuits against the Bank.

The total losses of EUR 24.9 million (2023: EUR 12.8 million) from the year-end reva-
luation of foreign exchange and securities were offset by transferring an equal amount
from the provision established against financial and operational risks. Additionally,
provisions against financial risks amounting to EUR 133.1 million were released fol-
lowing a decision by the Bank's Risk Management Committee.

APPROPRIATION OF PROFITS

Profit for financial year 2024 amounted to EUR 82.9 million.

In accordance with Article 71 of the Statute, it is proposed that profit be appropriated
as follows:

e dividend to be distributed: EUR 13.3 million (12% of the Bank's capital); and

e transferred to the Greek State: EUR 69.6 million.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank of Greece recognises, evaluates and monitors the risks assumed on a con-
tinuous basis, aiming at managing them effectively. These risks are divided into finan-
cial and operational.

Risk management is a critical function of the Bank, and the relevant tasks have been
assigned to the Risk Management Directorate, whose task is to manage (financial and
operational) risks and to ensure business continuity at Bank level. The Risk Manage-
ment Directorate reports to the Risk Management Committee and the Bank's Mana-
gement.

Financial risks

To measure financial risks, the Value-at-Risk and Expected Shortfall methods are ap-
plied with a confidence level of 99% over a one-year horizon. Both methods calculate
the loss that may be incurred by a portfolio due to adverse developments that affect
its value over a certain time period and with a certain level of confidence. Measure-
ments and assessment of the Bank’s level of exposure to these risks are carried out
regularly throughout the year and reports are submitted to the Administration con-
cerning their size and evolution.

The monitored financial risks include market risk and credit risk. Market risk comes
from the possible change in the market prices of the financial assets in the portfolios,
due to a change in interest rates (interest rate risk) and/or a change in exchange rates
(exchange risk). Credit risk is the risk of losses due to the occurrence of a credit event.
A credit event is defined as the inability of a counterparty to make full or timely pay-
ments due, including the possible restructuring of its debt or the downgrading of its
credit rating. Counterparties may include borrowing credit institutions, issuers of se-
curities that the Bank holds in the context of the Bank’s monetary policy and invest-
ment of own funds, as well as credit institutions with which the Bank holds current
accounts and carries out investment activities, e.g. fixed-term deposits and transac-
tions in foreign currency.

The Risk Management Directorate measures market risk and credit risk in the Bank's
investment portfolios. More specifically, market risk is measured with the variance-
covariance parametric method, and credit risk with the CreditMetrics methodology.
Calibration is reviewed and updated on a regular basis.

As regards the portfolios linked to the implementation of the single monetary policy of
the Eurosystem, the risks are measured and monitored centrally by the ECB and shared
among the NCBs. These risks include credit risk, market risk - where applicable - and
the risk arising from any mismatch between the sensitivity of the Eurosystem’s assets
and liabilities to changes in interest rates. The Bank's share of this allocation is taken
into account when measuring the total risk.

Operational risks and business continuity

Operational risks concern the negative effects on the Bank of Greece's financial condi-
tion, business operation and/or reputation resulting from inadequate or failed internal
governance and processes, people, systems, and/or as a result of external events.

The recognition, recording and evaluation of operational risks is carried out by the
Bank's own business units, which assess the probability of the occurrence of these
risks and evaluate the effects. The Risk Management Directorate provides method-
ological support to the Bank's business units for the recording and evaluation of ope-
rational risks, collects the data for the entire Bank and produces a consolidated report
to the Risk Management Committee.

BANK OF GREECE
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As required, during 2024, the annual review of operational risks was carried out by
all Business Units of the Bank, while, as regards business continuity, the gradual im-
plementation of the Business Continuity Management (BCM) framework, which go-
verns the development and updating of the business continuity plans of the various
business areas of the Bank, continued.

SHAREHOLDERS WITH VOTING RIGHTS ABOVE 5%

The shares of the Bank of Greece are registered and listed on the Athens Exchange
since 12 June 1930.

As at 31.12.2024, the Bank of Greece's capital stood at EUR 111,243,362, and is di-
vided into 19,864,886 shares of a face value of EUR 5.60 each.

The Greek State and the Electronic National Social Security Entity (e-E.F.K.A.) are the
shareholders of the Bank of Greece with a participation percentage higher than 5%,

namely 8.93% and 12.44% respectively.

It should be noted that the Bank did not hold any of its own shares on 31.12.2024.
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THIS REPORT HAS BEEN TRANSLATED FROM THE ORIGINAL VERSION IN GREEK

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of the Bank of Greece

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Bank of Greece (the Bank), which comprise the
balance sheet as at 31 December 2024, the profit and loss account and the statement of profit distribution for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Bank as at 31 December 2024 and its financial performance for the year then ended in accordance with the
accounting principles and methods established by the European Central Bank (ECB), under the “Guideline (EU)
2024/2941 of 14.11.2024 (ECB/2024/31)", as adopted by the Bank in Article 54A of its Statute. For matters that
may not be covered by the aforementioned ECB rules or whose application is not mandatory but recommended,
either the ECB recommendations or the provisions of the Bank’s Statute in conjunction with Law 4308/2014 “Greek
Accounting Standards, relevant arrangements and other provisions” shall be followed, as appropriate, to the extent
that they do not contradict with the provisions of the Statute.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as these have been incor-
porated into Greek legislation. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our report. We have been independent of
the Bank during the whole period of our appointment in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) as incorporated into Greek legislation
and the ethical requirements in Greece relevant to the audit of the financial statements and we have fulfilled our
ethical requirements in accordance with the applicable legislation and the above-mentioned Code of Ethics. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter

A key audit matter is this matter that, in our professional judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. This matter and the relevant risks of material misstatement were ad-
dressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

For the matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements” section of our report, including those related to the key audit matter. Accordingly, our audit included
performing procedures designed to address the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The re-
sults of our auditing procedures, including the procedures performed on the matter below, provide a basis for our
opinion on the accompanying financial statements.

BANK OF GREECE 3
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Key audit matter

Provision against financial risks

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The Bank recognises, measures and monitors the financial risks
arising from its assets such as euro-denominated securities is-
sued by euro area residents, not related to monetary policy
operations.

In addition, financial risks include risks arising from the exercise
of the monetary policy of the Eurosystem which are measured
by the European Central Bank.

Following a decision of the Bank’s Risk Management Commit-
tee, which took into account the measurement of financial
risks based on the VaR (Value at Risk) method, a provision for
financial risks has been established, which amounted to EUR
1,464 million as at 31 December 2024.

The measurement process for financial risks (including credit
risk and market risk) is complex, involves estimates and metho-
dological assumptions and has a significant impact on the
Bank's results. We therefore considered it to be a key audit
matter.

The Bank’s management has provided information on the pro-
vision against financial risks in the section IV. Note 11.1 “Risk
Provisions” of the liabilities of the financial statements.

In the context of evaluating the process of financial risks mea-
surement, we performed among others, the following audit
procedures:

1. Understanding of the process of the financial risks and me-
thodology used by the Bank to recognise, measure and moni-
tor the accounting estimates of provisions and verifying the
approvals of the amount of the provision by the competent
level of authority within the Bank of Greece.

2. Assessment of the design and implementation of the inter-
nal controls related to the measurement of financial risks (cre-
dit risk and market risk).

3. With the participation of EY specialists, we reviewed the me-
thodology and the relevant assumptions used by the Bank for
the measurement of provisions and performed independent re-
calculations on a sample basis.

4. Examination of the accuracy and completeness of the Bank’s
assets used to measure the provisions.

5. Assessment of the completeness and the accuracy of the dis-
closures in the financial statements related to this key audit
matter.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information is included in the General Council’s
Report, referred to in the “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements”, but does not include the financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form

of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other infor-
mation, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

BANK OF GREECE
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Responsibilities of the Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with the accounting principles and methods established by the European Central Bank (ECB), under the “Guideline
(EU) 2024/2941 of 14.11.2024 (ECB/2024/31)", as adopted by the Bank in Article 54A of its Statute.

For matters that may not be covered by the aforementioned ECB rules or whose application is not mandatory
but recommended, either the ECB recommendations or the provisions of the Bank’s Statute in conjunction with
Law 4308/2014 “Greek Accounting Standards, relevant arrangements, and other provisions” shall be followed,
as appropriate, to the extent that they do not contradict with the provisions of the Statute, where these have
been implemented by the Bank, and for such internal controls as Management determines are necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the Bank's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting.

The Audit Committee (Article 44 of Law 4449/2017) of the Bank is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, as a whole, are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opi-
nion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs, as these have been incorporated into Greek legislation, will always detect a material misstatement,
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggre-
gate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users made on the basis of these
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, as these have been incorporated into Greek legislation, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit, in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Bank’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by Management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material un-
certainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the fi-
nancial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
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the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements present fairly the underlying transactions and events.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical re-
quirements regarding independence, and we communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements for the current period and are, therefore, the key audit matters.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. General Council’s Report

Taking into consideration that Management is responsible for the preparation of the General Council’s Report for
the financial year 2024, which also includes the Corporate Governance Statement, according to the provisions of
paragraph 5 of Article 2 of Law 4336/2015 (part B), we note the following:

a) The General Council’s Report includes the Corporate Governance Statement, which provides the information
required by Article 152 of Law 4548/2018.

b) In our opinion, the General Council’s Report for the financial year 2024 has been prepared in accordance with
the applicable legal requirements of Articles 150-151 and paragraph 1 (subparagraphs ¢’ and d’) of Article
152 of Law 4548/2018 and its content is consistent with the accompanying financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

c) Based on the knowledge we obtained during our audit of the Bank of Greece and its environment, we have
not identified any material inconsistencies in the General Council’s Report.

2. Additional Report to the Audit Committee

Our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements is consistent with the additional report to the Bank’s
Audit Committee referred to in Article 11 of European Union (EU) Regulation 537/2014.

3. Non-audit Services

We have not provided to the Bank any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article 5 of European Union
(EU) Regulation 537/2014.

The allowable non-audit services provided to the Bank, during the year ended 31 December 2024 are disclosed in
Note 5 in Section VI. “Additional Information” of the financial statements.
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4. Appointment

We were appointed statutory auditors for the first time by the General Assembly of the Bank of Greece on 7 April
2022. Since then, our appointment has been renewed for the fiscal year 2024 by the General Assembly of the Bank
of Greece held on 8 April 2024.

04 March 2025

The Certified Auditor Accountant
MICHALIS REPPAS
SOEL R.N. 57941
Ernst & Young (Hellas) Certified Auditors Accountants S.A.
8B Chimarras St., Maroussi
151 25, Greece
Company SOEL R.N. 107

The Certified Auditor Accountant
ANDREAS HADJIDAMIANOU
SOEL R.N. 61391
Ernst & Young (Hellas) Certified Auditors Accountants S.A.
8B Chimarras St., Maroussi
151 25, Greece
Company SOEL R.N. 107

The present constitutes an informal translation in English of the original Report prepared by ERNST & YOUNG (HELLAS) Certified Au-
ditors-Accountants SA (“EY”) in Greek language.

This translation is provided for information purposes only and should not be relied upon or used for any other purpose unless EY has pro-
vided its relevant consent in writing. Under no circumstances will EY and the other companies of the EY Network in Greece and abroad,
their partners or employees, be liable against the Client or any third party, for any decision or action taken on the basis of this translation
or for any direct or consequential damages suffered by any third party deriving from the use of the translation or its contents.
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

(ineuro)

ASSETS 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Gold and gold receivables

12,286,463,317

9,118,836,040

2. Claims on non-euro area residents denominated in foreign currency 2 5,418,133,083 5,471,970,488
2.1 Receivables from the International Monetary Fund (IMF) 2.1 1,753,318,829 1,674,596,524

2.2 Sz:r;iﬁzsxv;ilze?:;k;izisecurity investments, external loans 29 3.664,814,254 3.797.373,964

3. Claims on euro area residents denominated in foreign currency 3 381,569,038 345,822,277
4. Claims on non-euro area residents denominated in euro 4 25,359 24,489
5 t:r:r‘;:?o:\z 3::3;;2?12:22(’:: LrLsrt(i)tutions related to monetary policy 5 2,600,000,000 14,339,000,000
5.1 Main refinancing operations 5.1 1,100,000,000 0

5.2 Longer-term refinancing operations 52 1,500,000,000 14,339,000,000

5.3 Fine-tuning reverse operations 0 0

5.4 Structural reverse operations 0 0

5.5 Marginal lending facility 0 0

5.6 Credits related to margin calls 0 0

6. Other claims on euro area credit institutions denominated in euro 6 1,419,792 1,682,246
7. Securities of euro area residents denominated in euro 7  158,446,097,275 160,551,153,357
7.1 Securities held for monetary policy purposes 7.1 133,445,410,305 143,172,450,175

7.2 Other securities 7.2 25,000,686,970 17,378,703,182

8. General government long-term debt denominated in euro 8 3,010,236,281 2,941,022,742
9. Intra-Eurosystem claims 9 33,993,214,365 30,044,111,311
9.1 Participating interest in the ECB 9.1 485,776,054 503,561,541

9.2 Claims equivalent to the transfer of foreign reserves to the ECB 9.2 916,422,958 997,925,769

9.3 Claims related to TARGET 9.3 0 0

9.4 L\lheet Igjarion;)slsrteelranted to the allocation of euro banknotes within 94 29,236,491,570 25,157.169,805

9.5 Other claims within the Eurosystem (net) 9.5 3,354,523,783 3,385,454,196

10. Items in course of settlement 0 0
11. Other assets 11 3,172,352,536 3,656,273,780
11.1 Coins of euro area 111 37,319,892 36,302,711

11.2 Tangible and intangible fixed assets 1.2 591,248,002 592,570,979

11.3 Other financial assets 11.3 134,620,182 125,807,396

11.4 Off-balance-sheet instruments revaluation differences 1.4 1,951,048 813,130

11.5 Accruals and prepaid expenditure 1.5 1,835,539,034 2,340,924,708

11.6 Sundry 11.6 571,674,378 559,854,856
TOTAL ASSETS 219,309,511,046  226,469,896,730
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NINETY SEVENTH YEAR

(in euro)

LIABILITIES m 31.12.2024| 31.12.2023

Banknotes in circulation

1

33,013,730,040

35,380,149,525

Liabilities to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy

= operations denominated in euro ! HEBINREETEEER | e
2.1 Current accounts (covering the minimum reserve system) 2.1 2,477,685,837 2,456,691,052
2.2 Deposit facility 2.2 16,522,951,500 25,510,628,474
2.3 Fixed-term deposits 0 0
2.4 Fine-tuning reverse operations 0 0
2.5 Deposits related to margin calls 0 0
3. Other liabilities to euro area credit institutions denominated in euro 3 0 0
4. Liabilities to other euro area residents denominated in euro 4 27,387,242,677 26,491,373,087
4.1 General government 4.1 26,492,874,118 25,726,558,235
4.2 Other liabilities 4.2 894,368,559 764,814,852
5. Liabilities to non-euro area residents denominated in euro 5 2,984,592,181 2,978,760,941
6. Liabilities to euro area residents denominated in foreign currency 6 1,782,183,732 1,702,212,353
7. Liabilities to non-euro area residents denominated in foreign 7 2,788 2,621

currency
8. Intra-Eurosystem liabilities 8 115,019,274,317 114,955,507,920
8.1 Liabilities related to TARGET 8.1 115,019,274,317  114,955,507,920
8.2 Net liabilities related to the allocation of euro banknotes within 8.2 0 0

the Eurosystem

8.3 Other liabilities within the Eurosystem (net) 8.3 0 0
9. Items in course of settlement 9 206,423 5,807,004
10. Other liabilities 10 778,676,129 932,035,114
10.1 Off-balance-sheet instruments revaluation differences 10.1 34,221 0
10.2 Accruals and income collected in advance 10.2 581,987,621 786,014,312
10.3 Sundry 10.3 196,654,287 146,020,802
11. Provisions 11 4,556,265,578 4,468,136,872
11.1 Risk provisions 1.1 1,464,000,000 1,622,000,000
11.2 Other provisions 1.2 3,092,265,578 2,846,136,872
12. Revaluation accounts 12 11,241,938,115 8,043,834,435
13. Capital and reserves 13 3,544,761,729 3,544,757,332
13.1 Capital 13.1 111,243,362 111,243,362
13.2 Ordinary reserve 13.2 111,243,362 111,243,362
13.3 Extraordinary reserve 13.3 575,889,379 575,889,379
13.4 Special reserve for financial risks 134 2,744,771,262 2,744,771,262
13.5 Other special reserves 13.5 1,614,364 1,609,967
TOTAL LIABILITIES 219,309,511,046  226,469,896,730
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR 2024

(in euro)

Net interest expense

-3,201,011,821

-3,084,475,258

1.1 Interest - income 1.1 3,503,255,385 3,257,084,683

1.2 Interest - expense 1.2 -6,704,267,206 -6,341,559,941

2. Net result of financial operations and write-downs 2 43,576,785 66,273,180
2.1 Realised gains arising from financial operations 68,508,085 79,122,485

2.2 Write-downs on financial assets and positions -24,931,300 -12,849,305

3. Net result of pooling of monetary income 3 3,348,826,836 3,377,651,143
4. Net income from fees and commissions 4 148,260,859 138,710,123
4.1 Fees and commissions income 158,172,695 148,477,026

4.2 Fees and commissions expense -9,911,836 -9,766,903

5. Income from equity instruments and participating interests 5 75,304,825 3,996,566
6. Other income 6 21,057,695 41,824,560
Total net income 436,015,179 543,980,314

7. Staff costs and pension benefit expenses 7 -322,641,586 -292,259,236
8. Other administrative expenses 8 -67,771,140 -63,629,840
9. Depreciation of tangible and intangible fixed assets 9 -13,665,176 -11,942,697
Total expenses before provisions -404,077,902 -367,831,773
Profit before provisions 31,937,277 176,148,541

10. Provisions 10 -50,992,368 -77,441,559
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 82,929,645 98,706,982

STATEMENT OF PROFIT DISTRIBUTION 2024"

Article 71 of the Statute

(in euro)

N )

Profit for the year 82,929,645 98,706,982
Dividend to be distributed for the year 2024 (€ 0.6720 per share
-13,349,203 -13,349,203
for 19,864,886 shares)
Extraordinary reserve 0 -85,357,779
Amount to be transferred to the Greek State -69,580,442 0
(1] 0

*  The profit distribution is subject to approval by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Athens, 4 March 2025

THE GOVERNOR FINANCIAL DEPARTMENT

THE DIRECTOR THE ACCOUNTANT

YANNIS ASIMAKOPOULOS THEOCHARIS NTOVAS

License No Class A 0137991

YANNIS STOURNARAS

EY) BANK OF GREECE
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I. FRAMEWORK FOR DRAWING UP THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of the Bank of Greece are drawn up in accordance with Article 54A of its Statute, on the
basis of the accounting principles and methods applicable to the European System of Central Banks (ESCB), as
established by the European Central Bank (ECB) in Guideline (EU) 2024/2941 of 14.11.2024 (ECB/2024/31).1?

These principles are based on generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), tailored to best suit the needs
and reflect the special status of the National Central Banks (NCBs) of the Eurosystem. It should also be noted
that the Bank's liabilities in respect with post-employment benefits are accounted for in accordance with Deci-
sion (EU) 2024/2938 of 14.11.2024 on the annual accounts of the European Central Bank (ECB/2024/32).'3 Any
issues that are not covered by the aforementioned principles and ECB guidelines or are governed by non-man-
datory provisions are to be treated either in accordance with ECB recommendations or in accordance with the
Bank's Statute, taken in conjunction with Law 4308/2014 “Greek Accounting Standards, relevant arrangements
and other provisions"”, to the extent that it does not contravene the provisions of the Statute. In this context,
the Bank has in place appropriate policies and procedures to prepare the financial statements and to account
for financial events.

The financial statements of the Bank of Greece comprise the Balance Sheet, the Profit and Loss Account and the
Statement of Profit Distribution for the year ended on 31.12.2024, as well as a summary of significant accounting
principles and methods and other explanatory information (Notes on the Financial Statements). Given the special
role of the Bank of Greece as the country's central bank, the publication of a cash flow statement would not pro-
vide the readers of the financial statements with any useful additional information.

Il. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND QUALITATIVE CHARACTERISTICS

The main accounting principles and the qualitative characteristics governing the preparation of the financial sta-
tements in the Eurosystem (i.e. the ECB and the euro area NCBs) and which, thus, apply to the Bank of Greece as
well, are the following:

- economic reality and transparency;

- prudence;

- materiality;

- consistency and comparability;

- going concern;

- accruals;

- post-balance-sheet events recognition.

l1l. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Recognition of assets and liabilities

An asset or liability is recognised in the balance sheet when:

- any associated future economic benefit is expected to flow to or from the Bank of Greece;
- all of the associated risks and rewards have been transferred to the Bank of Greece; and

- the value of the asset or the liability can be measured reliably.

12 See eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=0J:L_202402941.
13 See eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=0J:L_202402938.
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(b) Recording of transactions

The accounts are kept on a historical cost basis, except for marketable securities (other than portfolios designated
as held-to-maturity and the existing portfolios for monetary policy purposes), gold and all other on-balance-sheet
and off-balance-sheet assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency, which are valued at market prices.

Transactions pertaining to financial assets and liabilities are recorded in the accounts on their settlement date.

With the exception of spot transactions in securities, transactions pertaining to financial instruments denominated
in foreign currency are recorded on the basis of the economic approach (regular approach),’ according to which:

- Transactions are recorded on off-balance-sheet (memorandum) accounts on the transaction/trade date.

- On the settlement/value date, the off-balance-sheet booking entries are reversed and the transactions are
booked on balance sheet accounts.

It should be noted that foreign currency positions, realised gains and losses arising from net sales and the average
cost are calculated on the trade date. Accrued interest, premiums or discounts related to financial instruments de-
nominated in foreign currency are calculated and recorded daily, thus also affecting the foreign currency position.

(c) Valuation of assets and liabilities

Assets and liabilities in foreign currency and gold

The assets and liabilities of the Bank in foreign currency and gold are converted into euro at the exchange rate
prevailing on the balance sheet date, as determined by the ECB. Income and expenses are converted into euro at
the exchange rate prevailing on the trade date. The revaluation of foreign exchange assets and liabilities, including
on-balance-sheet and off-balance-sheet instruments, is performed on a currency-by-currency basis.

Revaluation to the market price for assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency is treated separately
from the exchange rate revaluation.

No distinction is made between price and currency revaluation differences for gold. A single gold valuation is ac-
counted for on the basis of the price in euro per fine ounce of gold, as determined by the ECB.

Securities
e Debt securities held for monetary policy purposes are accounted for at amortised cost (the acquisition cost ad-
justed for amortisation of premium or accretion of discount) subject to impairment.

e Marketable securities are valued at the mid-market prices prevailing on the balance sheet date, on a security-
by-security basis (per ISIN), provided they are not classified as held-to-maturity and are not held for monetary
policy purposes. Any options embedded in securities are not treated separately for valuation purposes.

e Marketable debt securities classified as held-to-maturity and non-marketable securities are valued at amortised
cost subject to impairment.

e llliquid equity shares and any other equity instruments held as permanent investments are valued at cost subject
to impairment.

e Marketable investment funds (and/or equity portfolios that are externally managed and strictly replicate the
performance of an index-linked mutual fund) are valued on a net basis at fund level, using their net asset value,
provided that they meet certain predetermined criteria.’> There shall be no netting between different marketable
investment funds.

Tangible and intangible fixed assets
Fixed assets comprise real estate (land plots, buildings and fixtures, buildings under construction), furniture, works
of art, machinery, electronic equipment, as well as intangible fixed assets. Both real estate and movable equipment

14 Inaccordance with Article 5 of Guideline (EU) 2024/2941 of 14.11.2024 (ECB/2024/31).
15 The criteria refer broadly to the level of the Bank's influence on the everyday transactions/operations conducted by the mutual fund, to the legal
status governing the mutual fund and to how the investment is assessed.
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as well as intangible fixed assets are valued at acquisition cost, adjusted for depreciation and impairment. Land
plots, buildings under construction and works of art are not depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the fixed asset.

The expected useful life of fixed assets per category is the following:

Buildings and fixtures 40 years
Other equipment 4-15 years
Intangible fixed assets and capitalised expenses 4-5 years

The Bank's real estate is subject to impairment as at the balance sheet date, when there are specific indications
which derive both from internal and external sources of information. The Bank assigns to certified valuators the
preparation of a report on the calculation of the recoverable value of real estate, if there are indications of impair-
ment, and, in any case, every three years for all real estate.

(d) Income recognition

e Income and expenses are recognised in the accounting period in which they are earned or incurred and not in
the period in which they are received or paid.

e Realised gains and losses arising from foreign currency, gold and debt security transactions are taken to the
Profit and Loss Account. Such realised gains and losses are calculated by reference to the average cost of the re-
spective asset on the date they are realised.

e Unrealised gains (revaluation gains) are not recognised as income but are transferred directly to revaluation ac-
counts.

e Unrealised losses (revaluation losses), when in excess of previous revaluation gains registered in the correspon-
ding revaluation account, are transferred at year-end to the Profit and Loss Account and are not netted against
new revaluation gains in subsequent years. In addition, unrealised losses on any one security or currency or on
gold holdings are not netted against unrealised gains on other securities or currencies or gold. The average cost
of a financial asset giving rise to an unrealised loss at the end of the financial year is adjusted to the year-end
exchange rate or market price.

e Premiums or discounts arising on purchased securities are calculated and presented as part of interest income
and are amortised over the remaining contractual life of the securities, according to the internal rate of return
(IRR) method.

* Impairment losses are taken to the Profit and Loss Account and are not reversed in subsequent years, unless
the impairment decreases, and the decrease can be related to an observable event that occurred after the initial
impairment was recorded.

(e) Off-balance-sheet items

The securities and the items in euro included in the off-balance-sheet (memorandum) accounts are recorded at
their nominal value.

The off-balance-sheet transactions in financial instruments in foreign currency (foreign exchange forward transac-
tions, forward legs of foreign exchange swaps and other currency instruments involving an exchange of one cur-
rency for another at a future date) are included in the net foreign currency position for the purpose of calculating
the average cost of purchase and the foreign exchange gains and losses.

(f) Staff Benefits

The Bank offers staff benefit plans (for staff in active employment or retired), divided into defined benefit plans
and defined contribution plans.
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Defined benefit plans pertain to severance pay to staff in active employment (Law 2112/1920), as well as to the
provision of main and supplementary pension for all insured staff. The relevant liabilities are determined annually,
on the basis of an independent actuarial study using the projected unit credit method. The defined benefit obli-
gation is recognised in the “Provisions” liability item, under “Provisions for staff benefits".

The service costs (current and past service), the gains or the losses arising from settlements and the net financial
costs of the defined benefit obligation are recognised in the Profit and Loss Account under the “Staff costs and pen-
sion benefit expenses” item. Remeasurement gains/losses of the obligation are recognised directly in the balance
sheet under the liability item “Revaluation accounts”. In order to fully reflect the value of the deficit or the surplus
of the defined benefit schemes, it is not allowed to reclassify them subsequently to the Profit and Loss Account.

The Bank offers parental benefit and post-employment benefit plans as defined contribution plans for its insured
staff. The contributions to these plans are entered under the “Staff costs and pension benefit expenses” item of the
Profit and Loss Account. These plans do not entail an additional financial burden for the Bank, beyond the already
paid employer's contributions.

At the same time, the Bank manages, in separate portfolios, the assets of the defined contribution plans and the
said assets are included in the “Other financial assets” asset item.

(g) Risk provisions
The Bank establishes and maintains provisions against financial and operational risks arising from its activities.

The Bank recognises, measures and monitors the risks undertaken after weighing and thoroughly checking the
data arising from its own funds portfolios. The measurements are carried out based on the data of the last day of
each year.

The financial risks monitored also include the risks deriving from the implementation of the Eurosystem's single
monetary policy. These risks are measured by the ECB for each NCB.

In this context, the Bank establishes provisions following the practice of the ECB and the other NCBs of the Euro-
system. The estimation of these provisions is examined on an annual basis.

(h) Banknotes in circulation

The ECB and the euro area NCBs, which together constitute the Eurosystem, issue euro banknotes.'® The total
value of euro banknotes in circulation is allocated to the Eurosystem central banks on the last working day of each
month in accordance with the banknote allocation key."”

The ECB has been allocated an 8% share of the total value of euro banknotes in circulation, while the remaining
92% is allocated to the NCBs according to their Eurosystem key. The share of banknotes in circulation that has been
allocated to the Bank of Greece is disclosed in the balance sheet under the liability item “Banknotes in circulation”.

The difference between the value of euro banknotes allocated to each NCB according to its banknote allocation
key and the value of euro banknotes that the NCB puts into circulation gives rise to remunerated'® intra-Eurosystem
claims/liabilities. These claims or liabilities are disclosed correspondingly under “Net claims/liabilities related to the
allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem”.

Each time an EU Member State adopts the euro and its NCB joins the Eurosystem as a new member, from the cash
changeover year until five years following the cash changeover year the intra-Eurosystem balances arising from

16 Decision of the ECB of 13 December 2010 on the issue of euro banknotes (ECB/2010/29), OJ L35, 9.2.2011, p. 26, as amended and in force. The
unofficial consolidated text with all the amendments is available at https:/eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=
CELEX:02010D0029(01)-20200201&from=EN.

17 The term "banknote allocation key” refers to the 92% share of each Eurosystem NCB in the total paid-up (by all the Eurosystem NCBs) capital of the
ECB.

18  Decision of the ECB of 3 November 2016 on the allocation of monetary income of the national central banks of Member States whose currency is
the euro (ECB/2016/36) OJ 347, 20.12.2016, p. 26, as amended and in force. The unofficial consolidated text with all the amendments is available at
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:02016D0036(01)-20201231&from=EN.
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the allocation of euro banknotes are adjusted in order to avoid significant changes in NCBs’ relative income posi-
tions as compared to previous years.

The adjustments are affected by taking into account the differences between the average value of banknotes in
circulation of each NCB in the reference period (i.e. 24 months starting 30 months before the day on which euro
banknotes become legal tender in the respective Member State) and the average value of banknotes that would
have been allocated to them during that period under the ECB capital key. In 2024, the adjustments resulted from
the accession of the NCB of Croatia (on 1 January 2023) and will terminate in 2029.

Interest income and interest expense on these claims/liabilities is cleared through the ECB accounts and is disclosed
in the Profit and Loss Account under “Net interest income/expense”.

(i) Intra-ESCB balances/intra-Eurosystem balances

Intra-Eurosystem balances result primarily from cross-border payments in the European Union that are settled in
central bank money in euro. These transactions are for the most part initiated by private entities (i.e. credit insti-
tutions, enterprises and individuals). They are settled in TARGET - Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross
Settlement Express Transfer system - and give rise to bilateral balances in the TARGET accounts of EU central banks.
Payments conducted by the ECB and the national central banks (NCBs) also affect these accounts. All settlements
are automatically aggregated and adjusted to form part of a single position for each NCB vis-a-vis the ECB. The
movements in TARGET accounts are reflected in the accounting records of the ECB and the NCBs on a daily basis.

Euro-denominated intra-Eurosystem balances of the Bank of Greece vis-a-vis the ECB arising from TARGET are pre-
sented on the balance sheet as an asset or liability position under either “Claims related to TARGET" or “Liabilities
related to TARGET".

Intra-ESCB balances vis-a-vis non-euro area NCBs not arising from TARGET are disclosed either under the asset
item “Claims on non-euro area residents denominated in euro” or under the liability item “Liabilities to non-euro
area residents denominated in euro”.

Other intra-Eurosystem balances denominated in euro (e.g. the ECB’s interim profit distribution to the NCBs, if
any, and the balance due to the difference between monetary income to be pooled and redistributed) are presented
in the balance sheet of the Bank of Greece as a single net asset or liability position under either “Other claims
within the Eurosystem (net)"” or “Other liabilities within the Eurosystem (net)".

Intra-Eurosystem claims arising from the Bank of Greece's participating interest in the ECB are disclosed under the
asset item “Participating interest in the ECB”. In particular this asset item includes (a) the NCBs' paid-up share in
the ECB's subscribed capital; (b) any net amount paid by the NCBs due to the increase of their shares in the ECB's
equity value resulting from of all previous ECB capital key adjustments; and (c) contributions in accordance with
Article 48.2 of the Statute of the ESCB with respect to central banks of Member States whose derogations have
been abrogated.

Intra-Eurosystem claims arising from the transfer of foreign reserve assets to the ECB by NCBs at the time of joining
the Eurosystem are denominated in euro and are reported under “Claims equivalent to the transfer of foreign re-
serves to the ECB".

Intra-Eurosystem balances arising from the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem are included as a
single net asset or liability position under “Net claims related to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Euro-
system” or “Net liabilities related to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem”.

(j) ECB profit distribution

The Governing Council of the ECB has decided that the seigniorage income of the ECB, which arises from the 8%
share of euro banknotes allocated to the ECB, as well as the income arising from the securities held under (a) the

19 Equity value (in the sense used herein) means the total of reserves, revaluation accounts and provisions equivalent to reserves, minus any loss carried
forward from previous financial years of the ECB. In the event of capital key adjustments taking place during the financial year, the equity value also
includes the ECB's accumulated net profit/loss until the date of the adjustment.
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Securities Markets Programme (SMP), (b) the third Covered Bond Purchase Programme (CBPP3), (c) the Asset-Backed
Securities Purchase Programme (ABSPP), (d) the Public Sector Purchase Programme (PSPP), and (e) the Pandemic
Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) is distributed to the NCBs in January of the following year by means of an
interim profit distribution, unless otherwise decided by the Governing Council 2°. Any such decision shall be taken
where, on the basis of a reasoned estimate prepared by the Executive Board, the Governing Council expects that
the ECB will have an overall annual loss or will make an annual profit that is less than this income. The Governing
Council may also decide to transfer all or part of this income to a provision for financial risks.

Furthermore, the Governing Council of the ECB may decide to reduce the amount of the income on euro banknotes
in circulation to be distributed by the amount of the costs incurred by the ECB in connection with the issue and
handling of euro banknotes.

The amount distributed to NCBs is disclosed in the profit and loss account under “Income from equity instruments
and participating interests"”.

(k) Post-balance-sheet events

Assets and liabilities are adjusted for events that occur between the annual balance sheet date and the date on
which the financial statements are approved, if they affect materially the condition of assets or liabilities at the
balance sheet date. Events which occur after the balance sheet date and do not affect the figures of the balance
sheet but whose importance is such that non-disclosure would affect the ability of the users of the financial sta-
tements to make proper evaluations and decisions are mentioned in the notes on the financial statements.

20  Decision (EU) 2015/298 of the ECB of 15 December 2014 on the interim distribution of the income of the European Central Bank (ECB/2014/57), (OJ
J 53, 2522015, p. 24, as amended and in force. The unofficial consolidated text with all the amendments is available at https:/eur-
lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:02014D0057(01)-20201231&from=EN.
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IV. NOTES ON THE BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS

1. Gold and gold receivables

Gold and gold receivables

31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Volume in ounces (thousands) 4,892.9 4,882.0 10.9
Volume in tonnes 152.2 151.9 0.3
Value (EUR million) 12,286.5 9,118.8 3,167.7

This item includes:

- the Bank's holdings of international standard gold and gold sovereigns (3,683.6 thousand ounces on 31.12.2024,
compared with 3,678.0 thousand ounces on 31.12.2023);

- gold receivables from the Greek State (985.6 thousand ounces on 31.12.2024 and 31.12.2023), corresponding
to Greece's participation in the IMF (the gold component of Greece's quota has been paid by the Bank of Greece
to the IMF on behalf of the Greek State); and

- non-international standard gold and gold coins (223.7 thousand ounces on 31.12.2024, compared with 218.4
thousand ounces on 31.12.2023).

A part of the gold holdings is kept with banks abroad.

Gold and gold receivables increased slightly, by 10.9 thousand ounces, reflecting mainly sales and purchases of
gold sovereigns and gold coins. The substantial EUR 3,167.7 million increase in their value compared to 31.12.2023
is mainly attributed to gold valuation effects.

The price of gold on 31.12.2024, as determined by the ECB, was EUR 2,511.069 per ounce, up from EUR 1,867.828
on 29.12.2023. The net result of gold valuation (value as at 31.12.2024 compared to the average acquisition cost)
is disclosed under liability item 12 “Revaluation accounts”. This amount represents unrealised profit and serves as
a buffer against potential losses from gold price movements.

2. Claims on non-euro area residents denominated in foreign currency

This item includes receivables from the IMF (in SDRs), balances of current accounts kept with correspondent banks
abroad, fixed-term deposits, securities holdings and the value of the Bank's cash holdings of foreign currency.

2.1 Receivables from the International Monetary Fund (IMF)

Receivables from the International Monetary Fund (IMF)

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change

SDR EUR SDR EUR SDR EUR
SDR holdings 8227  1,032.0 802.5 975.5 20.2 56.5
iSnDshZOIr,\”/lEo”e”t of Greece's quota 575.0 721.3 575.0 699.1 0.0 22.2
Total 1,397.7  1,7533  1,3775  1,674.6 20.2 78.7

These receivables derive from the overall participation of Greece in the IMF and are mirrored in equivalent liabilities
to the Greek State (see note on liability item 6 “Liabilities to euro area residents denominated in foreign currency").

Greece's SDR holdings come over time from SDR allocations by the IMF, which aim to provide liquidity to the global
economic system by boosting the foreign reserve assets of IMF member countries.
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The balance of Greece's SDR holdings has been formed based on the Greek government's transactions with
the IMF.

This account presents the SDR component of Greece's quota in the IMF. The quota denominated in euro
(31.12.2024: EUR 2,326.3 million; 31.12.2023: EUR 2,257.1 million) is disclosed under liability item 5 “Liabilities to
non-euro area residents denominated in euro” as an IMF deposit kept with the Bank (account No. 1). The two com-
ponents mentioned above comprise Greece's total quota in the IMF.

The above receivables from the IMF were valued based on the SDR/euro exchange rate as at 31.12.2024, as deter-
mined by the ECB (1 SDR = EUR 1.2544 compared with 1 SDR = EUR 1.2157 as at 29.12.2023).

2.2 Balances with banks and security investments, external loans and other external assets

Balances with banks and security investments, external loans and other external assets

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Marketable debt securities not held to maturity

Bonds/Treasury bills 2,791.2 2,362.2 429.0

Green bonds 209.6 189.5 20.1
Total 3,000.8 2,551.7 4491
Mutual fund shares/units

Mutual fund shares in Chinese yuan with the BIS 62.4 68.0 -5.6

VI\CI&EU:AJU&S shares in green bonds in US dollars 275 252 23
Total 89.9 93.2 -3.3
::ri]x?c;ir-etizrrr]ncgfrp;?]sci;s with non-euro area banks denominated 485.8 1,064.1 5783
Current accounts with correspondent banks - non-euro area 65.9 673 14
residents denominated in foreign currency
Cash holdings of foreign currency 22.4 21.1 1.3
Grand total 3,664.8 3,797.4 -132.6
Breakdown of the total to individual denominations is as follows:
(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
usbD 3,038.8 2,823.5 215.3
CNY 274.6 374.7 -100.1
GBP 209.6 357.8 -148.2
JPY 43.6 45.2 -1.6
NOK 394 57.5 -18.1
AUD 28.3 61.9 -33.6
CAD 24.0 68.0 -44.0
Other 6.5 8.8 -2.3
Total 3,664.8 3,797.4 -132.6

Marketable debt securities were valued at the mid-market prices as at 31.12.2024 per International Security Iden-
tification Number (ISIN), resulting in revaluation gains of EUR 2.3 million (31.12.2023: EUR 2.5 million) and in re-
valuation losses of EUR 16.5 million (31.12.2023: EUR 5.8 million). The revaluation gains were transferred to
revaluation accounts (liability item 12 “Revaluation accounts”), while the revaluation losses were transferred to
the Profit and Loss Account (item 2 of the Profit and Loss Account “Net result of financial operations and write
downs") and were offset by transferring the corresponding amount from the provision booked for this purpose
(item 10 of the Profit and Loss Account “Provisions").
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Mutual fund shares/units were valued at the closing price as at 30.12.2024, resulting in revaluation gains of EUR
12.6 million (31.12.2023: EUR 9.8 million), which were transferred to revaluation accounts (liability item 12 “Reva-
luation accounts").

3. Claims on euro area residents denominated in foreign currency

This item comprises current account balances with correspondent banks abroad, fixed-term deposits and securities
holdings.

Claims on euro area residents denominated in foreign currency

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
iFerFgr—etngCSﬁ%%sg;c/s with euro area banks denominated 3133 3449 316
Marketable debt securities (Treasury bills) not held to maturity 66.8 0.0 66.8
Current accounts with correspondent banks - euro area residents 15 0.9 0.6
denominated in foreign currency

Total 381.6 345.8 35.8

Breakdown of the total to individual denominations is as follows:

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
usbD 158.8 197.7 -38.9
GBP 134.2 116.5 17.7
NOK 28.2 0.0 28.2
SEK 27.1 0.0 271
CAD 23.4 31.6 -8.2
AUD 99 0.0 9.9
Total 381.6 345.8 35.8

Marketable debt securities were valued at the mid-market prices as at 31.12.2024 per International Security Iden-
tification Number (ISIN), resulting in revaluation gains of EUR 0.1 million, which were transferred to revaluation
accounts (liability item 12 “Revaluation accounts”).

4. Claims on non-euro area residents denominated in euro

This item includes interest-bearing current account balances with banks abroad, totalling EUR 25.4 thousand as at
31.12.2024 (31.12.2023: EUR 24.5 thousand).

5. Lending to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy operations denominated in
euro

This item includes the outstanding balances of loans granted by the Bank of Greece to domestic credit institutions
in the context of the implementation of the euro area single monetary policy.

The total outstanding amount of Eurosystem credit through monetary policy operations was EUR 34.2 billion as
at 31.12.2024, compared with EUR 410.3 billion as at 31.12.2023, of which the Bank of Greece had granted EUR
2.6 billion to domestic credit institutions, compared with EUR 14.3 billion in the previous financial year.

Liquidity is provided to counterparties via main and longer-term refinancing operations as well as under the mar-
ginal lending facility against adequate collateral. The eligible assets are divided into marketable and non-marke-
table ones and fulfil the Eurosystem's eligibility criteria.
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It should be noted that, under Article 32.4 of the Statute of the ESCB, income and losses arising from Eurosystem
monetary policy operations are allocated to the NCBs according to their respective Eurosystem keys.

Losses from these operations can only materialise if the counterparty defaults and the proceeds from the reali-
sation of the collateral provided by the counterparty are not sufficient. It should be noted that NCBs may exercise
their discretion to accept as collateral specific categories of eligible collateral for which the risk is fully borne by
the NCB.

In particular:

5.1 Main refinancing operations

Main refinancing operations are conducted through liquidity providing reverse transactions with frequency and
maturity of normally one week, through standard tenders. These operations play a key role in achieving the ob-
jectives of steering interest rates, managing market liquidity and signalling the monetary policy stance. Since Oc-
tober 2008, these operations have been conducted as fixed rate tenders with full allotment.

Main refinancing operations

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change

Main refinancing operations 1,100.0 0.0 1,100.0

It should be noted that, in 2024, the average balance of these operations amounted to EUR 62.3 million, compared
with an average balance of EUR 209.6 million in 2023.

5.2 Longer-term refinancing operations
These operations provide counterparties with additional longer-term refinancing. The said operations were con-
ducted as fixed rate tenders with full allotment.

Longer-term refinancing operations

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
3-month operations 1,500.0 0.0 1,500.0
TLTRO Il operations 0.0 14,339.0 -14,339.0

Total 1,500.0 14,339.0 -12,839.0

In 2024, longer-term refinancing operations decreased by EUR 12,839.0 million, mainly as a result of the maturity
of TLTRO Il operations of EUR 13,589.0 million and of the early repayment of EUR 750.0 million.

Following the series of seven quarterly Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operations (TLTROs Ill) introduced in 2019,
the Governing Council of the ECB decided in December 2020 to introduce three further operations, which were
conducted between June and December 2021. These operations had a three-year maturity, thus the last operation
matured in 2024. The participants had the option, on a quarterly basis, of terminating or reducing the amount of
a TLTRO Ill operation before maturity.

For the period from 24 June 2020 to 23 June 2022, the borrowing rates on these operations can be as low as 50
basis points below the average interest rate on the Deposit Facility (DFR), but in any case may not become less ne-
gative than -1%. For the remaining period until maturity they may not be lower than the average DFR during this
period. On 27 October 2022, the Governing Council decided that, from 23 November 2022 until the maturity date
or early repayment date of each respective outstanding TLTRO Il operation, the interest rate on these operations
would be indexed to the average applicable key ECB interest rates over this period.

The actual interest rates could only be known at the maturity or early repayment of each operation and, prior to
that, a reliable estimate was only possible to be used for calculating the TLTRO lIl interest accruals. The DFR was
the interest rate applicable to the Bank of Greece for calculating the TLTRO Il accrued interest for the financial
year 2024, as was also the case in the previous year.
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6. Other claims on euro area credit institutions denominated in euro

Other claims on euro area credit institutions denominated in euro

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change

Current accounts by correspondent banks-euro area residents

denominated in euro = 1.7 e

This item includes claims on euro area credit institutions which are not related to monetary policy operations.

7. Securities of euro area residents denominated in euro

7.1 Securities held for monetary policy purposes

This item comprises securities acquired by the Bank of Greece within the scope of the Covered Bond Purchase Pro-
grammes (CBPPs), Securities Markets Programme (SMP), Public Sector Purchase Programme (PSPP) and Pandemic
Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP).

Securities purchase programmes for monetary policy purposes

Start date End date’ Decision Universe of eligible securities?

Securities Markets Programme (SMP)

SMP May 2010 September 2012 ECB/2010/5 23%];223(1 private debt securities issued in the

Asset Purchase Programme (APP)

CBPP3 October 2014 June 2023 (EaCsBz:anOezn%/gd) Covered bonds of euro area residents
ABSPP* November 2014 June 2023 ECB/2014/45 Senior and guaranteed mezzanine tranches of

(as amended) asset-backed securities of euro area residents

Bonds issued by euro-area central, regional or local

governments or recognised agencies as well as
PSPP March 2015 June 2023 ECB/2020/3 by international organisations and multilateral

development banks located in the euro area

ECB/2016/16 Bonds and commercial paper issued by non-bank
CSppe June 2016 June 2023 (as amended) corporations established in the euro area

Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP)

ECB/2020/17

PEPP March 2020 December 2024 (as amended)

All asset categories eligible under the APP

For SMP, “End date" refers to the termination of the programme; for APP and PEPP, “End date” refers to the end of purchases.
Additional eligibility criteria for the specific programmes can be found in the decisions of the Governing Council.

In the context of the SMP, only public debt securities issued by five euro area treasuries were purchased.

The Bank of Greece did not participate in ABSPP and CSPP.

S~ W —

In 2024, the APP?' portfolio continued to decline, as the Eurosystem, since July 2023, no longer reinvests the prin-
cipal payments from maturing securities.?

Under the PEPP?3 programme, following a decision by the Governing Council of the ECB in December 2023,2* in
the first half of 2024 the Eurosystem continued reinvesting, in full, the principal payments from maturing securities.
Over the second half of the year, the PEPP portfolio decreased by EUR 7.5 billion per month on average, as the Eu-
rosystem did not reinvest all of the principal payments from maturing securities. Reinvestments under the PEPP
were discontinued at end-2024.

21 More details on the APP portfolio are available on the ECB’s website.
22 See "Monetary policy decisions’, ECB press release 15.6.2023.

23 More details on the PEPP portfolio are available on the ECB's website.
24 See "Monetary policy decisions’, ECB press release of 14.12.2023.
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https://www.ecb.europa.eu/press/pr/date/2023/html/ecb.mp231214~9846e62f62.en.html

The aggregate value of the monetary policy portfolios held by the NCBs of the Eurosystem on 31.12.2024 stood
at EUR 3,906.6 billion, of which the Bank of Greece held EUR 133.4 billion (31.12.2023: EUR 4,269.0 billion and
EUR 143.2 billion, respectively).

Debt securities held for monetary policy purposes are accounted for at amortised cost subject to impairment (see
Ill. Summary of significant accounting policies “(c) Valuation of assets and liabilities — Securities").

The Governing Council of the ECB assesses, on a regular basis, the financial risks associated with the securities
held for monetary policy purposes under security purchase programmes (CBPP3, SMP, ABSPP, PSPP, CSPP
and PEPP). Impairment tests for the above securities are conducted on an annual basis, using data as at the
year-end, and are approved by the Governing Council of ECB. In these tests, impairment indicators are
assessed separately for each programme. In cases where impairment indicators are observed, further analysis
is performed to confirm that the cash flows of the underlying securities have not been affected by an
impairment event.

According to the general arrangement established under Article 32.4 of the ESCB Statute, losses from holdings of
securities in monetary policy portfolios, if they were to materialise, are shared in full by the Eurosystem NCBs, in
proportion to their prevailing ECB capital keys shares, excluding the losses arising from sovereign debt securities
under the PSPP and the PEPP.

In the above context, on 31.12.2024, the Eurosystem NCBs held securities of an aggregate value of EUR 958.9 bil-
lion, of which EUR 100.9 billion are held by the Bank of Greece (31.12.2023: EUR 1,048.7 billion and EUR 109.4 bil-
lion, respectively).

In the impairment test carried out on monetary policy securities held at the end of 2024, the Governing Council
of the ECB observed no impairment indicators pointing towards a potential impairment of monetary policy related
securities.

The amortised cost of the monetary policy securities held by the Bank of Greece and their market value? (which
is not recorded on the Balance Sheet or in the Profit and Loss Account but is provided for comparison purposes
only) are presented in the following table:

Securities held for monetary policy purposes

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Amortised Market Amortised Market Amortised Market
Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value
Securities Markets Programme (SMP) 21.2 241 55.5 59.6 -34.3 -35.5

Asset Purchase Programmes (APP)

Third Covered Bond Purchase Programme 8313 8213 1271.9 12339 4406 4126
(CBPP3)
Public Sector Purchase Programme

(PSPP) 56,369.2 50,052.7 65,504.1 58,416.3 -9,134.9 -8,363.6

Total 57,200.5 50,874.0 66,776.0 59,650.2 -9,575.5 -8,776.2

Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP)

Sovereign Debt Securities under the PEPP 32,583.7 29,774.5 33,793.2 30,557.0 -1,209.5 -782.5
Supranational Securities under the PEPP 43,640.0 37,352.9 42,547.7 35,665.4 1,092.3 1,687.5
Total 76,223.7 67,127.4 76,340.9 66,222.4 -117.2 905.0
Grand total 133,445.4 118,025.5 143,172.4 125,932.2 -9,727.0 -7,906.7

Changes in the amortised cost of the securities held for monetary policy purposes are analysed in the following
table:

25 Market values are indicative and were derived on the basis of market quotes. When market quotes are not available, market values are calculated
using internal Eurosystem models.
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(EUR million) Amortlcs:S(: Purchases Maturities P;I?snclcl)ltr:\]{ Amortolzsz)e;:

31.12.2023 31.12.2024
SMP 55.5 0.0 -35.0 0.7 21.2
CBPP3 1,271.9 0.0 -439.7 -0.9 831.3
PSPP — Supranational Securities 65,504.1 0.0 -8,990.3 -144 .6 56,369.2
PEPP — Sovereign Debt Securities 33,793.2 2,127.7 -3,017.2 -320.0 32,583.7
PEPP - Supranational Securities 42,547.7 2,752.3 -1,535.5 -124.5 43,640.0
Total 143,172.4 4,880.0 -14,017.7 -589.3 133,445.4

The following tables present the amortised cost of the monetary policy debt securities as at 31.12.2024 and
31.12.2023, on a remaining maturity basis:

(EUR million) Total up to1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 years
SMP 21.2 0.0 17.5 0.0 3.7
CBPP3 831.3 539.2 167.6 124.5 0.0
PSPP - Supranational Securities 56,369.2 6,984.8 6,275.9 14,645.5 28,463.0
PEPP — Sovereign Debt Securities 32,583.7 1,381.4 3,010.3 6,631.3 21,560.7
PEPP - Supranational Securities 43,640.0 2,820.6 6,198.5 9,505.7 25,115.2
Total 133,445.4 11,726.0 15,669.8 30,907.0 75,142.6

(EUR million) Total up to1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 years
SMP 55.5 34.8 0.0 171 3.6
CBPP3 1,271.9 440.6 538.9 292.4 0.0
PSPP — Supranational Securities 65,504.1 9,009.9 7,010.6 16,697.0 32,786.6
PEPP — Sovereign Debt Securities 33,793.2 2,331.4 1,320.7 7,814.5 22,326.6
PEPP — Supranational Securities 42,547.7 1,543.1 2,790.1 12,266.0 25,948.5
Total 143,172.4 13,359.8 11,660.3 37,087.0 81,065.3

7.2 Other securities

This item includes euro-denominated bonds and Treasury bills issued by euro area governments, including the
Greek government, as well as mutual fund shares/units. These portfolios are held by the Bank purely for investment
purposes.

Other securities

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Marketable debt securities other than those held to maturity
Euro area debt securities, other than Greek government debt securities
e Bonds 1,251.5 179.6 1,071.9
e Treasury bills 6,862.1 4,172.7 2,689.4
Greek government debt securities
e Bonds 4.9 4.8 0.1
e Treasury bills 263.7 4223 -158.6
Total 8,382.2 4,779.4 3,602.8
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Other securities

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Held-to-maturity marketable debt securities

e Greek government bonds 3,853.1 3,483.9 369.2
e Euro area bonds, other than Greek government bonds 11,610.1 8,611.1 2,999.0
e Euro area green bonds, other than Greek government bonds 1,147.3 497.0 650.3
Total 16,610.5 12,592.0 4,018.5
Mutual fund shares/units 8.0 7.3 0.7
Grand total 25,000.7 17,378.7 7,622.0

Marketable debt securities, other than those held to maturity, were valued at the mid-market prices as at 31.12.2024
per International Security Identification Number (ISIN). The resulting revaluation gains of EUR 21.3 million
(31.12.2023: EUR 7.1 million) were transferred to revaluation accounts (liability item 12 "Revaluation accounts”).

The resulting revaluation losses of EUR 2.9 million (31.12.2023: EUR 0.3 million) were transferred to the Profit and
Loss Account (item 2 “Net result of financial operations and write downs") and were offset by transferring the corre-
sponding amount from the provision established for this purpose (item 10 of the Profit and Loss Account “Provisions™).

Held-to-maturity marketable debt securities are presented at amortised cost. These are securities with fixed or
predetermined payments and a fixed maturity which the Bank intends to hold until maturity. In the context of the
impairment test carried out at the end of 2024, no impairment indicators were observed pointing towards a po-
tential impairment of these securities.

In 2024, the Bank of Greece carried out sales of debt securities from the “Held-to-maturity” portfolio amounting
to EUR 90.0 million, due to adjustments related to a limit framework (see Note 2 of the Profit and Loss Account
“Net result of financial operations and write-downs").

Mutual fund shares/units were valued at the closing price as at 30.12.2024 and the resulting revaluation gains of
EUR 6.2 million (31.12.2023: EUR 5.5 million) were transferred to revaluation accounts (liability item 12 "Revaluation
accounts™).

The following tables present the book value of securities (excluding mutual fund shares/units) as at 31.12.2024
and 31.12.2023, on a remaining maturity basis:

31.12.2024

(EUR million) Total up to 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 years
Marketable debt securities other than those held to maturity

Euro area debt securities, other than
Greek government debt securities

e Bonds 1,251.5 54.8 393.5 491.0 312.2

® Treasury bills 6,862.1 6,862.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
Greek government debt securities

® Bonds 4.9 0.0 4.9 0.0 0.0

e Treasury bills 263.7 263.7 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total 8,382.2 7,180.6 398.4 491.0 312.2
Held-to-maturity marketable debt securities

e Greek government bonds 3,853.1 75.1 584.8 682.1 2,511.1

: ggrvzrirfnaegfgg?d‘;ther than Greek 11,610.1 384.8 524.8 4,962.9 5,737.6
Total 16,610.5 459.9 1,109.6 6,157.5 8,883.5
Grand total 24,992.7 7,640.5 1,508.0 6,648.5 9,195.7
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31.12.2023

(EUR million) Total up to 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 years
Marketable debt securities other than those held to maturity

Euro area debt securities, other than
Greek government debt securities

* Bonds 179.6 0.0 54.2 90.6 34.8
e Treasury bills 41727 41727 0.0 0.0 0.0

Greek government debt securities

* Bonds 4.8 0.0 0.0 4.8 0.0
* Treasury bills 422.3 422.3 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total 4,779.4 4,595.0 54.2 95.4 34.8

Held-to-maturity marketable debt securities

e Greek government bonds 3,483.9 213.2 76.3 1,167.1 2,027 .3
e Euro area bonds, other than Greek 8.611.1 29.0 463.9 15016 6.616.6
government bonds
e Euro area Green bonds, other than 497.0 00 00 101.8 395 2
Greek government bonds
Total 12,592.0 242.2 540.2 2,770.5 9,039.1
Grand total 17,371.4 4,837.2 594.4 2,865.9 9,073.9

8. General government long-term debt denominated in euro

General government long-term debt denominated in euro
(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change

Non-interest-bearing loans granted to the Greek State to finance 3.010.2 2.941.0

Greece's quota in the IMF 69.2

This item refers to long-term loans denominated in euro granted by the Bank to the Greek State to finance Greece's
quota in the IMF. The increase by EUR 69.2 million of this balance, compared to the previous financial year, is a
result of the incorporation of the difference from the adjustment of the year-end balance of the “IMF deposits de-
nominated in euro” account, due to the SDR's appreciation against the euro, as envisaged in the agreement exe-
cuted between the Greek State and the Bank of Greece (see note on liability item 5 “Liabilities to non-euro area
residents denominated in euro”).

The loans granted to the Greek State to finance Greece's quota in the IMF shall be paid back in full to the Bank of
Greece if and when the IMF ceases operations or if Greece ceases to be an IMF member.

9. Intra-Eurosystem claims

9.1 Participating interest in the ECB

Participating interest in the ECB

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Bank of Greece's share in the paid-up capital of the ECB 200,0 217,8 -17,8
Bank of Greece's contribution to the ECB's reserves and provisions 285,8 285,8 0,0
Total participating interest in the ECB 485,8 503,6 -17,8
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Pursuant to Article 28 of the Statute of the ESCB, the ESCB national central banks are the sole subscribers to the
capital of the ECB.

Subscription to the ECB capital is based on a key assigned to each NCB.

Under Article 29.1, each NCB is assigned a weighting in this key which is equal to the sum of:

- 50% of the share of the respective Member State in the gross domestic product of the European Union at current
prices; and

- 50% of the share of the respective Member State in the population of the European Union (Article 29.1 of the
Statute of the ESCB).

Pursuant to Article 29.3, the weightings of the NCBs' keys for subscription to the ECB's capital are adjusted every
five years following the establishment of the ESCB. Moreover, the weights of the NCBs' keys for subscription to the
ECB's capital are adjusted whenever there is a change in the composition of the subscribers to the said capital.

The euro area NCBs have fully paid up their subscriptions to the ECB's capital according to their capital keys and
are allocated the profits (or losses) of the ECB.

The non-euro area NCBs of the European Union pay up only 3.75% of their subscribed capital as a contribution to
the operational costs of the ECB.

Also, in accordance with Article 48.3 of the Statute of the ESCB, the ECB's subscribed capital is automatically increased
whenever a new Member State accedes to the European Union and its respective NCB joins the ESCB. The increase is
determined by multiplying the respective amounts then prevailing by the ratio, within the expanded capital key, bet-
ween the weighting of the entering NCB(s) and the weighting of those NCBs that are already members of the ESCB.

On 1.1.2024, the fifth adjustment of the NCBs' keys for subscription to the ECB's capital took place, according to

Article 29 of the Statute of the ESCB; as a result, Bank of Greece’s key for subscription to the ECB's capital amounts
to 1.8474%, from 2.0117%.

The NCBs' keys for subscription to the ECB's capital

. 2024 2023
National Central Banks % %
Bangue Nationale de Belgique (Belgium) 3.0005 2.9630
Deutsche Bundesbank (Germany) 21.7749 21.4394
Eesti Pank (Estonia) 0.2437 0.2291
Central Bank of Ireland (Ireland) 1.7811 1.3772
Bank of Greece (Greece) 1.8474 2.0117
Banco de Espafia (Spain) 9.6690 9.6981
Banque de France (France) 16.3575 16.6108
Banca d'ltalia (Italy) 13.0993 13.8165
Central Bank of Cyprus (Cyprus) 0.1802 0.1750
Latvijas Banka (Latvia) 0.3169 0.3169
Lietuvos bankas (Lithuania) 0.4826 0.4707
Banque centrale du Luxembourg (Luxembourg) 0.2976 0.2679
Central Bank of Malta (Malta) 0.1053 0.0853
De Nederlandsche Bank (Netherlands) 4.8306 4.7662
Oesterreichische Nationalbank (Austria) 2.4175 2.3804
Banco de Portugal (Portugal) 1.9014 1.9035
Banka Slovenije (Slovenia) 0.4041 0.3916
Néarodné banka Slovenska (Slovakia) 0.9403 0.9314
Suomen Pankki (Finland) 1.4853 1.4939
Hrvatska narodna banka (Croatia) 0.6329 0.6595
Total of euro area NCBs 81.7681 81.9881
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The NCBs' keys for subscription to the ECB's capital

. 2024 2023
National Central Banks % %
Bwnrapcka HapogHa 6aHka (Bulgarian National Bank) (Bulgaria) 0.9783 0.9832
Ceska narodni banka (Czech Republic) 1.9623 1.8794
Danmarks Nationalbank (Denmark) 1.7797 1.7591
Magyar Nemzeti Bank (Hungary) 1.5819 1.5488
Narodowy Bank Polski (Poland) 6.0968 6.0335
Banca Nationald a Romaniei (Romania) 2.8888 2.8289
Sveriges Riksbank (Sweden) 2.9441 2.9790
Total of non-euro area NCBs 18.2319 18.0119
Grand total 100.0000 100.0000

The data presented in the table below relate to the Bank of Greece’s contribution to the ECB’s capital.

Bank of Greece's share in the capital of the ECB

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
% € % €

Subscribed capital of the ECB (27 EU member

countries) 10,825.0 10,825.0 0.0

Bank of Greece's key for subscription to the

ECB's capital 1.8474 2.0117

2??}I§eOECGBreeCEIS share in the subscribed capital 200.0 217.8 17.8

ECB capital paid up by the 20 Eurosystem NCBs 8,851.4 8,875.2 -23.8

Bank of Greece’s Eurosystem key 2.25932 2.45365

g?r,c\rlieolfngreece's share in the paid-up capital 200.0 217.8 17.8

The Bank of Greece's share in the subscribed capital of the ECB amounts to EUR 200.0 million, compared with
EUR 217.8 million in the previous year, and is fully paid up. It corresponds to 2.25932% (Eurosystem key) of the
ECB capital paid up by the 20 Eurosystem NCBs, which amounts to EUR 8,851.4 million.

The Bank of Greece's contribution to the ECB's reserves and provisions amounts to EUR 285.8 million, unchanged
compared to the previous year. This amount relates to the Bank of Greece contribution on its entry into the

Eurosystem, in accordance with Article 48.2 of the Statute of the ESCB (see Ill. Summary of significant accounting
policies “i. Intra-ESCB balances/Intra-Eurosystem balances").

9.2 Claims equivalent to the transfer of foreign reserves to the ECB

Claims equivalent to the transfer of foreign reserves to the ECB

. 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
(EUR million)
% € % €
Total foreign reserve assets transferred to the ECB by
the 20 NCBs of the Eurosystem 40,562.0 40,671.1 ~109.1
Bank of Greece’s Eurosystem key 2.25932 2.45365
Claims of the Bank of Greece equivalent to the 916.4 997.9 815

transfer of foreign reserve assets to the ECB

This item represents the Bank's claims arising from the transfer of foreign reserve assets to the ECB, in accordance
with the Treaty establishing the European Union (Article 30.2 of the Statute of the ESCB).

Foreign reserve assets in proportion to the Bank's share in the paid-up capital of the ECB were transferred upon
the entry of the country into the euro area and of the Bank of Greece into the Eurosystem. They comprised assets
denominated in US dollars and Japanese yen (85%) and gold (15%).
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Against the foreign reserve assets transferred as above, the Bank of Greece acquired an equivalent claim in euro,
remunerated on a daily basis at 85% of the latest available interest rate of the Eurosystem's Main Refinancing
Operations (MRO rate) (see VI. Additional information, note 4 "Post-balance-sheet events"), which as at 31.12.2024
amounted to 3.15% (annual average 4.13%, against 3.8% in the previous year). The difference of 15% reflects a
zero return on the gold component.?¢

The adjustments of the NCBs’ keys for subscription to the ECB’s capital on 1.1.2024 led to the adjustment of the
claims of the Bank of Greece from the transfer of foreign reserve assets to the ECB. Due to the decrease in the
Bank's allocation key, the Bank of Greece's claim equivalent to this transfer decreased by EUR 81.5 million and
amounted to EUR 916.4 million on 31.12.2024 (31.12.2023: EUR 997.9 million).

9.3 Claims related to TARGET
The Bank's net balance vis-a-vis the ECB arising from TARGET as at 31.12.2024 was a liability of the Bank, as in the
previous year, and is disclosed under liability item 8.1 “Liabilities related to TARGET".

9.4 Net claims related to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem

Net claims related to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change

Net claims related to the allocation of euro banknotes within

the Eurosystem 29,236.5 25,157.2 4,079.3

This item includes the net claims of the Bank of Greece resulting from the allocation of euro banknotes within the
Eurosystem (see lll. Summary of significant accounting policies “h. Banknotes in circulation” and “i. Intra-ESCB
balances/Intra-Eurosystem balances”, as well as the note on liability item 1 “Banknotes in circulation™).

The ECB has been allocated a share of 8% in the total value of euro banknotes in circulation, while the remaining
92% is allocated to the NCBs according to their Eurosystem key on a monthly basis. The difference between the
value of euro banknotes allocated to each NCB and the value of euro banknotes that the NCB puts into circulation
is recorded as “Net claims related to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem” or as “Net liabilities re-
lated to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem”.

The increase of these claims in comparison to 31.12.2023, amounting to EUR 4,079.3 million, is mainly due to the de-
crease in the total value of the banknotes put into circulation by the Bank of Greece compared to the previous year.

This balance is remunerated on a daily basis at the prevailing Eurosystem's Main Refinancing Operations (MRO)

rate (see VI. Additional information, note 4 "Post-balance-sheet events"), which as at 31.12.2024 amounted to
3.15% (annual average 4.13%, against 3.8% in the previous year).

9.5 Other claims within the Eurosystem (net)

Other claims within the Eurosystem (net)

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
- from the reallocation of monetary income of the current year 3,349.3 3,372.9 -23.6
- from corrections to monetary income reallocation of previous years -1.6 5.8 -7.4
- from other claims 6.8 6.8 0.0
Total 3,354.5 3,385.5 -31.0

Other claims within the Eurosystem, amounting to EUR 3,354.5 million, stemmed from:

- The Bank's net result (income of EUR 3,349.3 million) from the reallocation of the Eurosystem's monetary income
for the financial year 2024. The monetary income pooled by the Bank was lower than the one allocated to it

26 Guideline of the ECB of 3 November 1998 as amended by the Guideline of 16 November 2000 on the composition, valuation and modalities for the
initial transfer of foreign-reserve assets, and the denomination and remuneration of equivalent claims (ECB/2000/15), OJ L 336, 30.12.2000, p. 114.
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according to its Eurosystem key (see note 3 of the Profit and Loss Account “Net result of pooling of monetary
income").

- An amount of EUR 1.6 million paid by the Bank due to corrections to monetary income reallocation for the year
2023 (see note 3 of the Profit and Loss Account “Net result of pooling of monetary income”).

- An amount of EUR 6.8 million, which pertains to the interest on a temporary Support to mitigate Unemployment
Risks in an Emergency (SURE) loan transferred to the ECB in the context of the said loan scheme, following a
relevant order by the Greek State.

According to the regulation of the SURE loan scheme, the amounts for the repayment of both principal and interest on the
loans granted to the Member States shall be deposited by the Member States 20 TARGET business days earlier than the
scheduled repayment date to the accounts of the respective NCBs kept with the ECB. As a result, intra-Eurosystem claims
of the NCBs against the ECB and, correspondingly, intra-Eurosystem liabilities of the ECB to the NCBs shall be generated.

A liability of an equal amount is presented in liability item 10.3 “Sundry”, so as to reflect the fact that this specific
amount remains in the account of the Bank of Greece kept with the ECB on behalf of the Greek State.

11. Other assets

11.1 Coins of euro area
The balance of this item represents the Bank's holdings of euro coins issued by euro area countries.

Coins of euro area

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Coins of euro area 37.3 36.3 1.0

The coins put into circulation by the Bank of Greece on behalf of the Greek State are entered into a special account
which is included in liability item 4.1 “General government”.

11.2 Tangible and intangible fixed assets

Tangible and intangible fixed assets

(EUR million) Total Land Buildings Equipment Other
Book value on 1.1.2024 592.6 383.5 161.5 31.8 15.8
Changes attributable to:

e Additions 18.3 0.0 3.4 2.1 12.8
e Depreciation costs -13.7 0.0 -4.2 -6.4 -3.1
e Reclassifications 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.9 -3.9
e Disposals/Write-offs -5.9 -3.8 -2.1 0.0 0.0
Book value on 31.12.2024 591.3 379.7 158.6 31.4 21.6
Cost 814.6 379.7 171.6 178.3 85.0
Accumulated depreciation costs -223.3 0.0 -13.0 -146.9 -63.4
Book value on 31.12.2024 591.3 379.7 158.6 31.4 21.6

Tangible and intangible fixed assets

(EUR million) Total Land Buildings Equipment Other
Book value on 1.1.2023 570.2 360.5 162.2 19.7 27.8
Changes attributable to:

e Additions 10.5 0.0 3.4 1.9 5.2
e Depreciation costs -11.9 0.0 -5.2 -4.2 -2.5
e Reclassifications 0.0 0.0 0.3 14.4 -14.7
e Impairment/Reversal of impairment 23.8 23.0 0.8 0.0 0.0
Book value on 31.12.2023 592.6 383.5 161.5 31.8 15.8
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(EUR million) Total Land Buildings Equipment Other
Cost 803.6 383.5 170.8 173.1 76.2
Accumulated depreciation costs -211.0 0.0 -9.3 -141.3 -60.4
Book value on 31.12.2023 592.6 383.5 161.5 31.8 15.8

The “Other” category includes advance payments for the acquisition of other equipment and software to be in-
stalled, amounting to EUR 14.8 million, as well as intangible fixed assets (mainly software expenses) and capitalised
expenses amounting to EUR 6.8 million (EUR 9.7 million and EUR 6.1 million, respectively, on 31.12.2023).

During the year 2024, the Bank sold properties (former branches of the Bank) with a total value of EUR 5.9 million.

In 2024, there were no indications of impairment regarding the value of the Bank's real estate, therefore there
was no reason to conduct an impairment test.

11.3 Other financial assets

Other financial assets

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Staff insurance scheme assets 104.2 954 8.8
Bank for International Settlements shares denominated in SDRs 20.9 20.9 0.0
Participating interest in the Hellenic Deposit and Investment 53 53 00
Guarantee Fund

Participating interest in DIAS Interbanking Systems S.A. 4.1 4.1 0.0
Sundry 0.1 0.1 0.0
Total 134.6 125.8 8.8

The “Sundry” category mainly includes shares of Hellenic Exchanges - Athens Exchange S.A. and of the Society for
Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunication (SWIFT).

11.4 Off-balance-sheet instruments revaluation differences

This item represented the result of the year-end revaluation of the outstanding balances of foreign currency spot
transactions recorded in off-balance-sheet (memorandum) accounts on the basis of the economic approach,
amounting to EUR 1.9 million (31.12.2023: EUR 735.9 thousand), as well as the unrealised revaluation gains on
Greek government securities (warrants), the total of which amounted to EUR 63.6 thousand (31.12.2023: EUR 77.2
thousand). These security positions are disclosed in off-balance-sheet (memorandum) accounts at nominal value.
These amounts were also recorded in revaluation accounts (liability item 12 “Revaluation accounts™).

11.5 Accruals and prepaid expenses

Accruals and prepaid expenses
(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Accrued interest income from:

Securities portfolios

e Debt securities held for monetary policy purposes 1,073.6 1,102.4 -28.8
e Investment portfolio debt securities 224.3 157.4 66.9
Total 1,297.9 1,259.8 38.1
Main refinancing operations (positive interest rate) 0.2 0.0 0.2

Longer-term refinancing operations - TLTRO I

(positive interest rate) 0.0 209.4 094
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Accruals and prepaid expenses

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Longer-term refinancing operations - 3-month operations 18 0.0 18
(positive interest rate) Z Uy g
{dhe;c Eltfrlcg;;;teelfr;(ed to the allocation of euro banknotes within 248,4 282,3 33,9
Claims equivalent to the transfer of foreign reserves to the ECB 32,7 32,7 0,0
Other interest income 1,5 2,9 -1,4
Total 1,582,5 2,087,1 -504,6
Other accrued income from:

e Fees 55.5 48.9 6.6

e Third-party sales of Printing Works Department (IETA) products 5.2 4.4 0.8

e Other 2.4 2.7 -0.3
Total 63.1 56.0 7.1
Prepaid expenses/Advance payments 189.9 197.8 -7.9
Grand total 1,835.5 2,340.9 -505.4
11.6 Sundry

(EUR million) 31.12.2024
Loans to the staff 412.9
Other 158.8
Total 571.7

31.12.2023 Change
403.1 9.8
156.8 2.0
559.9 11.8

Sundry amounted to EUR 571.7 million on 31.12.2024, compared with 559.9 million on 31.12.2023.

The “Other” category mainly includes the following: loan receivables from the former Bank of Crete, receivables
from insurance undertakings and customers, Printing Works Department (IETA) inventories, as well as forms and

stationery inventories.

For the loan receivables from the former Bank of Crete, amounting to EUR 61.0 million, a provision of an equal
amount has been established for claims against third parties, which is included in liability item 11.2 “Provisions”,

and specifically in “Special provisions”.
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LIABILITIES

1. Banknotes in circulation

Banknotes in circulation

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
\G/arlel:;:zs euro banknotes put into circulation by the Bank of 3,777.2 10,222.9 -6,445.7

Liability resulting from the ECB’s share in the total euro banknotes in
circulation (8% of the total value of euro banknotes in circulation -2,870.9 -3,076.3 205.4
multiplied by the Eurosystem key)

Claim(+)/liability(-) according to Bank of Greece's weighting in the

ECB capital key 32,107.4 28,2335 3,873.9
Net claim related to the allocation of euro banknotes in circulation

within the Eurosystem 29,236.5 25,157.2 4,079.3
Value of euro banknotes put into circulation by the Bank of 33,013.7 35,380.1 -2,366.4

Greece according to the banknote allocation key

This item represents the Bank of Greece's share of all euro banknotes in circulation in the Eurosystem and is cal-
culated based on the Bank’s banknote allocation key (2.0785% on 31.12.2024, against 2.2575% on 31.12.2023,
following the adjustment of the weightings assigned to the NCBs in the key for subscription to the ECB’s capital
that takes place every five years.

During 2024, the total value of euro banknotes put into circulation by the Eurosystem rose by 1.3% (31.12.2024:
EUR 1,588.3 billion, 31.12.2023: EUR 1,567.2 billion). The value of euro banknotes in circulation by the Bank of Greece
on the basis of the banknote allocation key amounts to EUR 33,013.7 million as at 31.12.2024, compared with
EUR 35,380.1 million as at 31.12.2023, declining by 6.7%, due to a decrease in the Bank’s banknote allocation key. The
value of euro banknotes put into circulation by the Bank of Greece decreased by 63.1% and stood at EUR 3,777.2
million on 31.12.2024, against EUR 10,222.9 million on 31.12.2023. As this is lower than the euro banknotes allocated
to the Bank, the difference of EUR 29,236.5 million is shown in asset item 9.4 “Net claims related to the allocation of
euro banknotes within the Eurosystem” (see lll. Summary of significant accounting policies “h. Banknotes in circulation™).

2. Liabilities to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy operations denominated
in euro

2.1 Current accounts (covering the minimum reserve system)

Current accounts (covering the minimum reserve system)

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Current accounts (covering the minimum reserve system) 2,477.7 2,456.7 21.0

This item represents the deposits of domestic credit institutions with the Bank of Greece, which are used to fulfil
their obligation to maintain minimum reserves in the Eurosystem and to settle payments between them, excluding
the funds of credit institutions that are not freely disposable and accounts of credit institutions that are exempt
from the minimum reserve requirements, which are disclosed separately in liability item 3 “Other liabilities to euro
area credit institutions denominated in euro”.

It should be noted that, in 2024, the average balance of credit institutions’ current accounts amounted to EUR 2.1
billion, compared with an average balance of EUR 2.2 billion in 2023 (down by 4.5%).

Regarding the current account remuneration, the following apply:

o Minimum reserves

Minimum reserve holdings by credit institutions with the central bank were remunerated at the prevailing Eu-
rosystem’s Main Refinancing Operations (MRO) rate until 20 December 2022 and at the Deposit Facility Rate (DFR)

27  The calculation of the value of the banknotes put into circulation by the Bank of Greece is governed by the provisions of Article 15 paragraph 2(a)
of Guideline (EU) 2024/2941 of 14.11.2024 (ECB/2024/31).
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from 21 December 2022 to 19 September 2023. On 27 July 2023, the Governing Council of the ECB decided that,
as from 20 September 2023, these holdings will be remunerated at 0%.

o Excess reserves

As from June 2014, the excess reserves of credit institutions, i.e. their current account holdings with the NCBs in
excess of average minimum reserves, are subject to remuneration at the lower of 0% or the Deposit Facility Rate
(DFR).

With the increase of the Deposit Facility Rate (DFR) to a level above zero from 14 September 2022, the excess re-
serves of credit institutions are remunerated at 0%.

2.2 Deposit facility

Deposit facility
(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Deposit facility 16,523.0 25,510.6 -8,987.6

This item relates to the standing deposit facility offered by the Eurosystem to credit institutions, in the context of
the implementation of the euro area single monetary policy.

Specifically, it consists of overnight deposits placed by credit institutions with the Bank of Greece and remunerated
at a pre-specified interest rate, i.e. the Deposit Facility Rate (DFR), which, following successive decreases since June
2024, amounted to 3.0% on 31.12.2024 (year average: 3.7%, against 3.3% in the previous year).

The outstanding amount of these deposits changes on a daily basis. On 31.12.2024, the deposits in question
amounted to EUR 16.5 billion, against EUR 25.5 billion on 31.12.2023. A decrease of EUR 9.0 billion, compared to
the previous year, is mainly due to the repayment, by credit institutions, of the last outstanding Targeted Longer-
Term Refinancing Operations (TLTRO lIl). It should be noted that, in 2024, the average balance of deposit facility
accounts amounted to EUR 23.3 billion, compared with an average balance of EUR 31.3 billion in 2023.

3. Other liabilities to euro area credit institutions denominated in euro

This item includes funds of credit institutions that are not freely disposable, as well as accounts of credit institutions
that are exempt from the minimum reserve requirement.

On 31.12.2024, the balance of these liabilities was zero, as in the previous year.

4. Liabilities to other euro area residents denominated in euro

4.1 General government

General government

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
General government 26,492.9 25,726.6 766.3

This item includes the balances of the accounts of the Greek State and general government bodies.

It should be noted that, in 2024, the average balance of these accounts amounted to EUR 30.3 billion, compared
with an average balance of EUR 27.2 billion in 2023 (up by 11.4%).

4.2 Other liabilities

Other liabilities

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Other liabilities 894 .4 764.8 129.6
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This item mainly includes balances of various entities.

5. Liabilities to non-euro area residents denominated in euro

Liabilities to non-euro area residents denominated in euro

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
IMF deposits 2,328.8 2,259.6 69.2
Other deposits 655.8 719.2 -63.4
Total 2,984.6 2,978.8 5.8

The IMF deposits concern deposits amounting to EUR 2,328.8 million (31.12.2023: EUR 2,259.6 million) and mainly
relate to the account denominated in euro (No. 1), amounting to EUR 2,326.3 million (31.12.2023: EUR 2,257.1
million), held by the IMF with the Bank and corresponding to the euro component of Greece’s quota in the IMF
(see note on asset item 2.1 “Receivables from the International Monetary Fund (IMF)").

The increase of EUR 69.2 million compared to the previous year was a result of an adjustment of the year-end ac-
count balance, due to the change in the exchange rate of the SDR against the euro (depreciation of the euro), so
that the deposits correspond to the amount of SDRs that is determined by the IMF at the end of the year. The ex-
change rate is taken from the IMF (1 euro = 0.796927 SDR on 23.12.2024,28 1 euro = 0.82134 SDR on 22.12.2023).
Based on agreements signed between the Greek State and the Bank of Greece, the Greek State assumes the ex-
change rate risk arising from the IMF deposits, and a corresponding adjustment is made to the outstanding
amounts of loans granted to the Greek State for its participation in the IMF (see note on asset item 8 “General
government long-term debt denominated in euro”).

Other deposits mainly include the funds of the European Investment Fund (EIF), the European Investment Bank
(EIB) and the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD).

6. Liabilities to euro area residents denominated in foreign currency

Liabilities to euro area residents denominated in foreign currency

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Liability to the Greek State in SDRs from IMF allocations 1,032.0 975.5 56.5
Liability to the Greek State (SDR component of Greece's quota in the IMF) 721.3 699.1 22.2
Other liabilities 28.9 27.6 1.3
Total 1,782.2 1,702.2 80.0

The liabilities to the Greek State in SDRs are mirrored in equivalent claims on the IMF (see note on asset item 2.1
“Receivables from the International Monetary Fund (IMF)").

7. Liabilities to non-euro area residents denominated in foreign currency
As at 31.12.2024, this item amounted to EUR 2.8 thousand (31.12.2023: EUR 2.6 thousand) and includes deposits
of various entities outside the euro area.

8. Intra-Eurosystem liabilities

8.1 Liabilities related to TARGET

Liabilities related to TARGET

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Liabilities related to TARGET 115,019.3 114,955.5 63.8

28  Latest exchange rate available on the IMF website SDRs per Currency unit for December 2024.
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The liabilities related to TARGET increased by EUR 63.8 million to EUR 115,019.3 million as at 31.12.2024, against
EUR 114,955.5 million as at 31.12.2023.

This item represents the Bank's net liabilities vis-a-vis the ECB, arising from cross-border transactions of domestic
credit institutions in the EU and from the Bank’s transactions with other Eurosystem NCBs, the ECB and non-Eu-
rosystem EU NCBs participating in the TARGET system (Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross settlement Ex-
press Transfer system).

This balance is remunerated on a daily basis at the prevailing Eurosystem’s Main Refinancing Operations (MRO)
rate (see VI. Additional information, note 4 “Post-balance-sheet events”), which at 31.12.2024 amounted to 3.15%
(annual average 4.1%, against 3.8% in the previous year).

8.2 Net liabilities related to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem
This item includes liabilities of the Bank of Greece resulting from the allocation of euro banknotes in circulation
within the Eurosystem (see Ill. Summary of significant accounting policies “h. Banknotes in circulation™).

On 31.12.2024, the balance was zero, as the value of the euro banknotes that had been put into circulation was
less than that allocated to the Bank according to the banknote allocation key, as in the previous year. Therefore,
their difference appears as a claim in asset item 9.4 “Net claims related to the allocation of euro banknotes within
the Eurosystem”.

8.3 Other liabilities within the Eurosystem (net)
As at 31.12.2024, the net balance of other transactions of the Bank of Greece with the Eurosystem was a claim of
the Bank, as in the previous year, and is disclosed under asset item 9.5 “Other claims within the Eurosystem (net)".

9. Items in course of settlement

Items in course of settlement

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Items in course of settlement 0.2 58 -5.6

This item includes various transactions that on 31.12.2024 were under settlement, as in the previous year, which
mainly concern cheques and payment orders whose settlement is pending, as well as interim account balances
under settlement.

10. Other liabilities

10.1 Off-balance-sheet instruments revaluation differences

This item includes the result, amounting to EUR 34.2 thousand (31.12.2023: zero balance), of the year-end reval-
uation of the outstanding balances of foreign currency spot transactions recorded in off-balance-sheet (memo-
randum) accounts on the basis of the economic approach, as well as of foreign exchange forward transactions.

10.2 Accruals and income collected in advance

Accruals and income collected in advance

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Interest accruals on TARGET 317.1 445 .4 -128.3

Interest accruals on deposits of general government bodies

and various entities 228.0 170.7 >/.3
Interest accruals on TLTRO IIl (negative interest rate) 0.0 131.0 -131.0
Fees and expenses payable 34.8 29.4 5.4
Interest accruals on the standing deposit facility 1.4 8.5 -7.1
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MENTS

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Other accrued interest and commissions 0.2 0.3 -0.1
Income collected in advance 0.5 0.7 -0.2
Total 582.0 786.0 -133.0
10.3 Sundry

Sundry

(EUR million)

Current year's dividends to be distributed
Profit to be transferred to the Greek State
Other liabilities

Total

31.12.2024

13.3
69.6
113.7
196.6

31.12.2023 Change
13.3 0.0

0.0 69.6

132.7 -19.0
146.0 50.6

The “Other liabilities” category includes other taxes to be paid, the balances of credit suspense accounts and other
accounts on behalf of third parties (suppliers etc.), liabilities to the Greek State under the SURE loan scheme, as

well as other liabilities.

11. Provisions

Against risks

1,622.0
0.0
-133.1
-24.9

0.0

-158.0
1,464.0

Special

366.1
107.8
-0.8
-3.4

0.9

104.5
470.6

For staff  Against losses

benefits arising from
monetary

policy

operations

2,478.9 1.1
247.7 0.0
0.0 -1.1
-123.0 0.0
18.1 0.0
142.8 -1.1
2,621.7 0.0

Provisions

(EUR million) Total
Balance on 1.1.2024 4,468.1
Increase 355.5
Release -135.0
Provisions used -151.3
Chahge in defineq ‘contribution plans 19.0
and in other provisions

Total change 88.2
Balance on 31.12.2024 4,556.3
Provisions

(EUR million) Total
Balance on 1.1.2023 4,465.8
Increase 120.5
Release -14.0
Provisions used -123.8
Transfers 0.0
Change in defined contribution plans 196
and in other provisions

Total change 2.3
Balance on 31.12.2023 4,468.1

Against risks

1,622.0
12.8
0.0
-12.8
0.0

0.0

0.0
1,622.0

Special

493.4
86.0
-8.6
-3.8
-203.5

2.6

-127.3
366.1

For staff  Against losses

benefits arising from
monetary

policy

operations

2,350.4 0.0
20.6 1.1
-5.4 0.0
-107.2 0.0
203.5 0.0
17.0 0.0
128.5 1.1
2,478.9 1.1
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Adequate provisioning aims to strengthen the Bank’s financial position so that it can best fulfil its mandate and
address the risks to which it is exposed.

The Bank reviews these provisions annually and adjusts them after a risk assessment.

In greater detail:

11.1 Risk provisions
The Bank establishes and maintains provisions against financial and operational risks arising from its activities.
The level of these provisions is examined on an annual basis.

The Bank measures, monitors and recognises the risks undertaken after weighing and thoroughly checking the
data, in order to manage them effectively. In this context, it establishes provisions following the practice of the
ECB and the other NCBs of the Eurosystem.

The identified risks are:

Market risk is the risk of a decrease in the market value of financial instruments acquired by the Bank due to pos-
sible adverse changes in exchange rates (exchange rate risk) or interest rates (interest rate risk).

Credit risk is the risk of loss from a borrower, or counterparty’s failure, that becomes unable to pay back the owed
amount to the Bank on time. Counterparties may include borrowers, issuers of investment securities, as well as
recipients of the Bank’s deposits.

Operational risk is the risk of impact on the Bank’s financial condition, operational readiness and/or reputation re-
sulting from inadequate or failed internal governance and processes, people, systems and/or external events.

The Bank measures the financial risks arising from its own investment portfolio. The measurement is carried out
based on the data of the last day of each year.

The financial risks monitored also include the risks deriving from the implementation of the Eurosystem’s single
monetary policy. These risks are measured by the ECB for each NCB.

From the measurement process and at the discretion of the Bank’s Administration, provisions have been established
to cover the following risks:

¢ the credit and/or market risk related to the Bank’s own funds portfolios;

e the credit and/or market risk related to the single monetary policy implementation, i.e. the refinancing opera-
tions with counterparty credit institutions and the acquisition of securities within the framework of the Eurosys-
tem’s asset purchase programmes.

The change in risk provisions for 2024 is analysed as follows:

e A provision of EUR 24.9 million (31.12.2023: EUR 12.8 million) was used to offset a loss recognised in the Profit
and Loss Account from the end-year valuation of foreign exchange and securities (see note 2 of the Profit and
Loss Account “Net result of financial operations and write-downs” and note 10 of the Profit and Loss Account
“Provisions").

e Release of a provision of EUR 133.1 million (31.12.2023: increase of the provision by EUR 12.8 million) following
a decision of the Bank’s Risk Management Committee.
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11.2 Other provisions

(a) Special provisions

Special provisions

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
e for claims against third parties 64.5 64.4 0.1
e for pending third-party lawsuits 354.3 249.6 104.7
e other 51.8 52.1 -0.3
Total 470.6 366.1 104.5

Special provisions include:

- provisions for legal claims of the Bank against third parties in order to cover the risk that may result from non-
collection thereof;

provisions for the coverage of pending lawsuits by third parties against the Bank in the event of their success,
which are mainly related to the main and supplementary pension, as well as provisions for additional liabilities
regarding the retirement of current employees, the amount of which was approximated by an actuarial study;

other provisions, in order to mainly cover the risk of non-collection of granted loans.

(b) Provisions for staff benefits

Provisions for staff benefits

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Defined benefit plans:

e Main pension 1,643.0 1,576.5 66.5

e Supplementary pension 538.3 481.5 56.8

e Severance pay under Law 2112/1920 43.4 42.0 1.4
Total 2,224.7 2,100.0 124.7
Defined contribution plans 397.0 378.9 18.1
Grand total 2,621.7 2,478.9 142.8
Defined benefit plans

The accumulated provisions amounting to EUR 2,224.7 million, compared with EUR 2,100.0 million in the previous
year, include the Bank’s defined benefit obligations for the provision of main and supplementary pensions, totalling
EUR 2,181.3 million, compared with EUR 2,058.0 million in the previous year, as the Bank has undertaken and pro-
vides social insurance for its staff, under Law 3863/2010, Article 64, according to which the calculation of benefits
is governed by the general provisions of law, as applicable, taken in conjunction with the provisions of the corre-
sponding Statutes of the former Funds of the Bank, as well as the staff severance pay (Law 2112/1920, as appli-
cable), amounting to EUR 43.4 million, compared with EUR 42.0 million in the previous financial year.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries; a relevant breakdown for 2024
and 2023 is given in the following tables:

Defined benefit plans

(EUR million) Main Supplementary Severance pay under Total
pension pension Law 2112/1920

Balance on 1.1.2024 1,576.5 481.5 42.0 2,100.0

Current service cost 22.7 9.3 0.8 32.8

Net financial cost 53.6 16.8 1.3 71.7

Past service cost 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) due to changes in financial

assumptions 42.4 19.8 -0.7 61.5
Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) due to experience changes 39.0 38.1 4.6 81.7
Benefit payments -91.2 -27.2 -4.6 -123.0
Balance on 31.12.2024 1,643.0 538.3 43.4 2,224.7
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Defined benefit plans

(EUR million) Main Supplementary Severance pay under Total
pension pension Law 2112/1920

Balance on 1.1.2023 1,437.0 511.6 39.9 1,988.5

Current service cost 21.2 10.0 0.7 31.9

Net financial cost 43.5 15.5 1.2 60.2

Past service cost 203.5 0.0 0.0 203.5

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) due to changes in financial

assumptions -91.5 -37.3 -1.1 -129.9
Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) due to experience changes 42.6 6.4 4.0 53.0
Benefit payments -79.8 -24.7 -2.7 -107.2
Balance on 31.12.2023 1,576.5 481.5 42.0 2,100.0

The current service cost and the net financial cost, totalling EUR 104.5 million (2023: EUR 92.1 million), are recog-
nised in item 7 of the Profit and Loss account “Staff costs and pension benefit expenses”, while actuarial losses from
the remeasurement of the liabilities, amounting to EUR 143.2 million (2023: actuarial gains of EUR 76.9 million),
are recognised under liability item 12 “Revaluation accounts”.

On 30 October 2023, cuts and reductions imposed on the main pensions of the Bank'’s insured staff were lifted
pursuant to Article 6(1) of Law 4051/2012 Article 1 para. IA subpara. IA.5, point 1 of Law 4093/2012, starting
from the scheduled pension payment of January 2024. As a result, the actuarial study on the main pension for
the year 2023 also included past service cost of EUR 203.5 million. This cost was offset in the Profit and Loss Ac-
count of the previous year, as an equal amount was transferred from the special provisions established for this
purpose.

The main actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

Main actuarial assumptions Main pension Supplementary pension under Law 2112/1920

per actuarial study
31.12.2024 31.12.2023 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Discount rate 3.20% 3.50% 3.20% 3.58% 3.00% 3.20%
Inflation rate 2.00% 2.25% 2.00% 2.25% 2.00% 2.25%
Mortality EVK2000 Swiss Table for Men and Women

Wages: 2.50% (inflation rate plus 0.50%)

Future increases Pension: 1.85%

Defined contribution plans

The defined contribution plans mainly concern parental and other post-employment benefits totalling EUR 397.0
million, compared with EUR 378.9 million in the previous year. According to the Bank’s decision, these benefits do
not entail an additional financial burden for the Bank, beyond the employer’s contributions already paid.

(c) Provisions against losses arising from monetary policy operations
The ECB, in cooperation with the NCBs, conducts impairment tests on securities related to the implementation of
the single monetary policy (SMP, CBPP, PSPP, CSPP, ABSPP and PEPP).

With respect to the provision established in 2023 by the NCBs of participating Member States with regard to
credit risks in monetary policy operations, an amount of EUR 42.9 million was used to cover the biggest part of
the loss realised on the sale in 2024 of an impaired security held by one of the Eurosystem NCBs under the PEPP-
CORP. Out of this amount, EUR 1.1 million was covered by the provision established for this purpose in the pre-
vious year by the Bank of Greece (see note 3 of the Profit and Loss Account “Net result of pooling of monetary
income™).
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12. Revaluation accounts

Revaluation accounts

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change
Unrealised revaluation gains:
e Gold 10,305.8 7,162.0 3,143.8
e Foreign currency 437.7 257.7 180.0
e Securities 23.6 9.6 14.0
e Mutual fund shares/units 18.8 15.3 3.5
e Warrants 0.1 0.1 0.0
Total 10,786.0 7,444.7 3,341.3
Accumulated actuarial gains (+)/losses (-) 455.9 599.1 -143.2
Grand total 11,241.9 8,043.8 3,198.1

Unrealised revaluation gains

On the basis of the accounting rules and principles set out by the European Central Bank for the ESCB member
NCBs, and in particular the principle of prudence, unrealised revaluation gains on gold, financial instruments in
foreign currency and securities are not recognised as income in the Profit and Loss Account, but are transferred
directly to revaluation accounts (serving as reserves for these particular assets only). By contrast, unrealised reval-
uation losses at year-end are recognised as expenses and are taken to the Profit and Loss Account (see lll. Summary
of significant accounting policies “d. Income recognition™).

The revaluation at the end of 2024 resulted in unrealised gains of EUR 10,786.0 million, compared with EUR 7,444.7
million at the end of 2023, most of which (EUR 10,305.8 million on 31.12.2024, compared with EUR 7,162.0 million
on 31.12.2023) comes from gold.

Accumulated actuarial gains/losses

This category includes the changes resulting from the remeasurement of the liabilities from the defined benefit
plans and concerns actuarial gains/losses. In order to fully reflect the value of the deficit or the surplus of the de-
fined benefits schemes, it is not allowed to reclassify them subsequently to the Profit and Loss Account (see Il
Summary of significant accounting policies “f. Staff Benefits").

The decrease in accumulated actuarial gains by EUR 143.2 million, compared to the previous year, is mainly due to
a decrease in the discount rates applied during the actuarial measurement of the liabilities from the defined benefit
plans (see note on liability item 11.2.b “Provisions for staff benefits").

13. Capital and reserves

The Bank’s total equity on 31.12.2024 amounted to EUR 3,544.7 million, unchanged compared to the previous
year.

In more detail, the Bank’s capital and reserves are as follows:

13.1 Capital

The Bank’s capital, after having been increased by Legislative Decrees 413/70 and 889/71, Laws 542/77 and 1249/82,
Ministerial Decision E. 2665/88, Law 2065/92, Ministerial Decision 1281/30.10.96 and Cabinet Acts 8/4.2.2000,
32/23.5.2002, 17/4.7.2005 and 8/10.6.2008, now stands at EUR 111,243,362 and is divided into 19,864,886 shares
of a face value of EUR 5.60 each.

13.2 Ordinary reserve
The ordinary reserve amounts to EUR 111,243,362 and is equal to the equity capital.

13.3 Extraordinary reserve
The extraordinary reserve on 31.12.2024 amounted to EUR 575.9 million, unchanged compared to the previous year.

BANK OF GREECE 63
ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2024



13.4 Special reserve for financial risks

The special reserve for financial risks on 31.12.2024 amounted to EUR 2,744.8 million, unchanged compared to
the previous year.

13.5 Other special reserves

Other special reserves on 31.12.2024 amounted to EUR 1.6 million, remaining at the same level compared to the
previous year, and represent the value of artworks and fixed assets transferred gratis to the Bank.
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V. NOTES ON THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

BRIEF ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL RESULTS

NET INCOME

The total net income from the implementation of the single monetary policy of the Eurosystem, interest income
on the Bank’s investment portfolio, commissions and other income from domestic and cross-border operations
came to EUR 436.0 million, from EUR 543.9 million in the previous year, having decreased by 19.8%.

In particular:

¢ Net result from interest, financial operations, write-downs and the reallocation of the Eurosystem’s monetary in-
come amounted to EUR 191.4 million, from EUR 359.4 million in the previous year, having decreased by 46.7%.

e Net income from fees and commissions increased by 6.9% to EUR 148.3 million, from EUR 138.7 million in the
previous year.

e Income from equity instruments and participating interests increased significantly to EUR 75.3 million, compared
with EUR 4.0 million in the previous year.

e Finally, other income amounted to EUR 21.0 million, compared with EUR 41.8 million in the previous year, down
by 49.8%.

EXPENSES BEFORE PROVISIONS

Total expenses before provisions amounted to EUR 404.1 million, compared with EUR 367.8 million in the previous

year, up by 9.9%.

PROVISIONS

During the current year, provisions had a positive contribution of EUR 51.0 million on the Profit and Loss Account,
compared with a negative effect of EUR 77.4 million in the previous year.
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NET INCOME
1. Net interest income

Net interest expense amounted to EUR 3,201.0 million, compared with EUR 3,084.5 million in the previous year,
up by 3.8%.

Interest income and interest expense arising from the same balance sheet (sub-)item related to monetary policy
operations are netted out and are disclosed as either interest income or interest expense, taking into account
whether the net amount is positive or negative.

1.1 Interest income
The individual categories of interest income are as follows:

Interest income

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
a. on loans to credit institutions related to monetary policy operations 370.5 743.9 -373.4
b. on securities held for monetary policy purposes 1,167.1 980.6 186.5
c. on investment portfolio 842.8 621.1 221.7
d. on long-term claims on the Greek government 0.0 3.3 -3.3
e. on long-term claims arising from the transfer of foreign reserves to the ECB 32.7 32.7 0.0

f. on net claims related to the allocation of euro banknotes in circulation

within the Eurosystem 1.073.0 868.5 2045
g. on securities lending programmes 3.7 5.2 -1.5
h. other interest income 13.5 1.8 1.7
Total 3,503.3 3,257.1 246.2

Interest income increased by EUR 246.2 million to EUR 3,503.3 million, compared with EUR 3,257.1 million in the
previous year, mainly due to the increase in interest income on PEPP monetary policy portfolio securities, on secu-
rities in euro (except Greek government debt securities) in the investment portfolio and on net claims related to
the allocation of euro banknotes in circulation within the Eurosystem. This increase was partly offset by a decline
in interest income on Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operations TLTRO Il

In particular:

1.1.a. Interest income on loans to credit institutions related to monetary policy operations

Interest income on loans to credit institutions related to monetary policy operations

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
- Main Refinancing Operations (MROs) 2.3 8.6 -6.3
- Longer-Term Refinancing Operations (LTROs): 368.2 735.3 -367.1
e LTRO operations 5.9 0.0 5.9
e TLTRO Il operations 362.3 735.2 -372.9
e PELTRO operations 0.0 0.1 -0.1
Total 370.5 743.9 -373.4

The decrease of EUR 373.4 million, compared to the previous year, is mainly owning to a decline in interest income
from TLTRO Il operations, due to their maturity during the year.

During the current and the previous year, the Deposit Facility Rate (DFR) was the interest rate applicable to the
Bank of Greece for the remuneration of TLTRO Ill operations (see note on asset item 5.2 “Longer-term refinancing
operations").
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1.1.b Interest income on securities held for monetary policy purposes
Interest income by portfolio is as follows:

Interest income on securities held for monetary policy purposes

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
- Securities Markets Programme (SMP) 2.3 4.4 -2.1
- Third Covered Bond Purchase Programme (CBPP3) 11.0 13.2 -2.2
- Public Sector Purchase Programme (PSPP) — Supranational securities 453.3 469.6 -16.3
- Szg?iggﬁr:{tﬁirgency Purchase Programme (PEPP) — Government 495 7 4230 727
- Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) — Supranational 204.8 704 134.4
securities
Total 1,167.1 980.6 186.5

The increase of EUR 186.5 million, compared to the previous year, is mainly due to a rise in interest income on the
sovereign and supranational debt securities in the PEPP portfolio, mainly as a result of an increase in their average
yield.

1.1.c Interest income on the investment portfolio
Interest income by investment category is as follows:

Interest income on the investment portfolio

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
- debt securities in euro (except Greek government debt securities) 547.5 332.8 214.7
e debt securities in euro 526.3 324.6 201.7
e green debt securities in euro 21.2 8.2 13.0
- Greek government debt securities in euro 117.0 107.1 9.9
- debt securities in foreign currency 129.4 122.6 6.8
e debt securities in foreign currency 120.3 116.4 3.9
e green debt securities in foreign currency 9.1 6.2 2.9
- fixed-term deposits in foreign currency and current accounts 48.9 58.6 -9.7
Total 842.8 621.1 221.7

The increase of EUR 221.7 million, compared to the previous year, is mainly due to an increase in interest income
on debt securities in euro (except Greek government debt securities), as a result of an increase in their average
yield and average balance.

1.1.d Interest income on long-term claims on the Greek government

During the previous financial year, the loans granted by the Bank to the Greek government until 31.12.1993 ma-
tured and were fully repaid, therefore there is no interest income on long-term claims on the Greek government
(2023: EUR 3.3 million).

1.1.e Interest income on long-term claims arising from the transfer of foreign reserves to the ECB

In the current year, interest income on long-term claims arising from the transfer of foreign reserves to the ECB
amounted to EUR 32.7 million, remaining at the same level as in the previous financial year, despite a decline in their
average balance, as a result of a rise in the average interest rate, namely 85% of the Eurosystem’s Main Refinancing
Operations (MRO) rate (see note on asset item 9.2 “Claims equivalent to the transfer of foreign reserves to the ECB").

1.1.f Interest income on net claims related to the allocation of euro banknotes in circulation within the Eu-
rosystem

In the current year, interest income on net claims related to the allocation of the euro banknotes in circulation

within the Eurosystem amounted to EUR 1,073.0 million, having increased by EUR 204.5 million compared to the

previous year (2023: EUR 868.5 million), as a result of a rise in the average interest rate, namely the Eurosystem'’s

Main Refinancing Operations (MRO) rate, and in their average balance (see note on asset item 9.4 “Net claims re-

lated to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem"”).
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1.1.¢ Interest income on securities lending programmes

In the current year, interest income on securities lending programmes amounted to EUR 3.7 million, down by
EUR 1.5 million compared to the previous year (2023: EUR 5.2 million), concerning the Bank’s participation in se-
curities lending programmes from the investment portfolio and monetary policy portfolios.

1.1.h Other interest income

In the current year, other interest income amounted to EUR 13.5 million, up by EUR 11.7 million compared to the
previous year (2023: EUR 1.8 million), mainly due to an increase in the interest on deferred payment from the set-
tlement of monetary income for 2023, compared to the corresponding amount for the year 2022.

1.2 Interest expense
The individual categories of interest expense are broken down as follows:

Interest expense

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
D o e o (oo
b. on Greek government deposits 730.4 635.8 94.6
c. on deposits of general government bodies and various entities 422.9 291.5 131.4
d. on TARGET balances 4,660.4 4,341.5 318.9
e. other interest expense 0.0 0.3 -0.3
Total 6,704.3 6,341.6 362.7

Interest expense increased by EUR 362.7 million to EUR 6,704.3 million, compared with EUR 6,341.6 million in the
previous year, mainly due to an increase in interest expense on TARGET balances, and in interest expense on de-
posits of general government bodies and various entities. This was partly offset by a decrease in interest expense
on the standing deposit facility.

In particular:
1.2.a. Interest expense on liabilities to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy operations de-

nominated in euro
Interest expense by liability is as follows:

Interest expense on liabilities to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy operations denominated

in euro

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
- on current accounts (covering the minimum reserve system) 0.0 459 -45.9
- on the standing deposit facility 890.6 1,026.6 -136.0
Total 890.6 1,072.5 -181.9

The decrease of EUR 181.9 million, compared to the previous year, is mainly due to a decrease in the average bal-
ance of the standing deposit facility (see note on liability item 2.2 “Deposit facility").

The current accounts of credit institutions are remunerated at zero percent as from 20 September 2023, on the
basis of a decision by the ECB’s Governing Council (see note on liability item 2.1 “Current accounts (covering the
minimum reserve system)").

1.2.c Interest expense on Greek government deposits

In the current year, the interest expense on Greek government deposits amounted to EUR 730.4 million, up by
EUR 94.6 million compared to the previous year (2023: EUR 635.8 million), as a result of the increase in their average
interest rate.

1.2.d Interest expense on deposits of general government bodies and various entities

In the current year, the interest expense on deposits of general government bodies and various entities amounted
to EUR 422.9 million, up by EUR 131.4 million compared to the previous year (2023: EUR 291.5 million), as a result
of the increase in their average interest rate and their average balance.
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1.2.e Interest expense on TARGET balances

In the current year, the interest expense on TARGET balances amounted to EUR 4,660.4 million, up by EUR 318.9
million compared to the previous year (2023: EUR 4,341.5 million), as a result of a rise in the average interest rate,
namely the Eurosystem’s Main Refinancing Operations (MRO) rate (see note on liability item 8.1 “Liabilities related
to TARGET").

2. Net result of financial operations and write-downs

The net result is broken down as follows:

Net result of financial operations and write-downs
(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
2.1 Realised gains arising from financial operations

- on foreign exchange operations 51.3 43.6 7.7

- on securities operations 16.4 13.8 2.6

- on purchases and sales of gold coins 0.8 1.3 -0.5

- on exchange revaluation of gold-linked loan 0.0 20.4 -20.4
Total 68.5 79.1 -10.6
2.2 Write-downs on financial assets and positions

- from revaluation of foreign currency positions -5.5 -6.8 1.3

- from revaluation of securities -19.4 -6.0 -13.4
Total -24.9 -12.8 -12.1
2. Net result of financial operations and write-downs 43.6 66.3 -22.7

Realised gains arising from financial operations decreased by EUR 10.6 million to stand at EUR 68.5 million, com-
pared with EUR 79.1 million in the previous year, mainly because foreign exchange revaluation gains of EUR 20.4
million were recognised in 2023, arising from the repayment of a gold-linked loan by the Greek State.

Specifically, realised gains on foreign exchange operations amounted to EUR 51.3 million, compared with EUR 43.6
million in the previous year, mainly due to operations in US dollars (2024: EUR 38.0 million, 2023: EUR 37.0 million).
In the current year, losses on sales of securities in the held-to-maturity portfolio were recognised in this item due
to adjustments related to a limit framework.

Moreover, losses of EUR 24.9 million from the year-end revaluation of foreign exchange and securities were recognised
in the Profit and Loss Account (P&L) at the end of 2024, compared with losses of EUR 12.8 million in the previous
year. Specifically, the revaluation of securities resulted in a loss totalling EUR 19.4 million (2023: EUR 6.0 million),
mainly resulting from a decline in the market value of US dollar denominated debt securities as their yield increased.
The total losses were offset by transferring an equal amount from the provision established for this purpose (see
note on liability item 11.1 “Provisions against risks” and note 10 of the Profit and Loss Account “Provisions”).

3. Net result of pooling of monetary income

Monetary income is the income accruing to the NCBs in the context of implementing the monetary policy of the
Eurosystem.

The amount of each NCB’s monetary income is equal to its annual income (actual and imputed) derived from the
Eurosystem’s earmarkable assets held against the liability base, less interest paid on items included in the liability
base. The net result is allocated to the NCBs according to their subscribed capital key.

The liability base is composed of the following items:

- banknotes in circulation;
- liabilities to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy operations denominated in euro;
- net intra-Eurosystem liabilities resulting from TARGET transactions;

- net intra-Eurosystem liabilities related to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem;
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- accrued interest recorded at quarter-end on monetary policy liabilities, the maturity of which is one year or longer;
- liabilities vis-a-vis the ECB backing the claim in relation to swap agreements that earn net income for the Eurosystem;

- deposit liabilities to defaulted Eurosystem counterparties which have been reclassified from liability item 2.1
“Current accounts (covering the minimum reserve system)”, [if applicable].

The assets that are held against the liability base (“earmarkable assets") are the following:

- lending to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy operations denominated in euro;

- securities held for monetary policy purposes. These include debt securities issued by euro area credit institutions
purchased under the third Covered Bond Purchase Programme (CBPP3), securities purchased under the Securities
Markets Programme (SMP) and the Public Sector Purchase Programme (PSPP), as well as under the Corporate
Sector Purchase Programme (CSPP) and the Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP). Yields on debt
securities issued by central, regional or local governments and other recognised agencies under the PSPP and
Sovereign Debt Securities under the PEPP are calculated daily on the basis of the latest available rate for the Eu-
rosystem’s Main Refinancing Operations (MRO) rate,?® (see VI. Additional information, note 4 “Post-balance-
sheet events”), while for debt securities purchased under the SMP, CBPP3, PSPP (only supranational securities),
CSPP and PEPP (supranational securities and corporate debt securities) actual yields are calculated;3°

- intra-Eurosystem claims equivalent to the transfer of foreign reserve assets to the ECB;
- net intra-Eurosystem claims resulting from TARGET transactions;
- net intra-Eurosystem claims related to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem;

- claims on euro area counterparties related to swap agreements between the ECB and a non-Eurosystem central
bank that earn net income for the Eurosystem;

- accrued interest recorded at quarter-end on monetary policy assets the maturity of which is one year or longer;

- a limited amount of each NCB'’s gold holdings in proportion to each NCB’s capital key share. Gold is considered
to generate no income.

The difference of the value of an NCB’s earmarkable assets and the liability base (GAP) is remunerated for monetary
income calculation purposes at the prevailing Eurosystem’s Main Refinancing Operation (MRO) rate (see VI. Addi-
tional information, note 4 “Post-balance-sheet events".

At the end of every financial year, the monetary income pooled by the Eurosystem is reallocated to the NCBs ac-
cording to their paid-up shares in the capital of the ECB. Pooling and reallocating monetary income to the NCBs
brings about net reallocation effects, since the level of the liability base and earmarkable assets of an NCB, as well
as the corresponding interest income/expenses on earmarkable assets and the liability base, may deviate from the
corresponding amounts calculated on the basis of its Eurosystem key.

This method of allocating the Eurosystem’s monetary income was established by Decision ECB/2016/36 of the Gov-
erning Council of the ECB, as amended.

Net result of pooling of monetary income is broken down as follows:

Net result of pooling of monetary income

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
- Monetary income allocated to the Bank of Greece according to

its capital key in the Eurosystem Lz e [
- Minus: Monetary income pooled by the Bank of Greece -2,331.9 -2,372.8 40.9
Result of pooling of monetary income 3,349.3 3,372.9 -23.6
Corrections to monetary income reallocation of previous years -1.6 5.8 -7.4
Provision against losses arising from the Eurosystem’s monetary 11 1.1 22
policy operations
Total 3,348.8 3,377.6 -28.8

29  Said portfolio securities fall under no-risk sharing, meaning that losses from these portfolios, if they were to materialise, are not shared by the Euro-
system NCBs. Moreover, the income allocated is not the actual income, but the imputed income, calculated at the prevailing Eurosystem’s Main Re-
financing Operations (MRO) rate.

30  Said portfolio securities fall under risk sharing, meaning that losses from these portfolios, if they were to materialise, are shared in full by the Eurosystem
NCBs, as is the relevant actual income, in proportion to the prevailing ECB capital key shares.
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During the current year, the net result of monetary income reallocation was positive for the Bank of Greece, as in
the previous year.

The amount receivable of EUR 3,349.3 million, which arose for the Bank of Greece in 2024, is due to the fact that
the Bank pooled during the current year negative monetary income of EUR 2,331.9 million, against its correspond-
ing monetary income of EUR 1,017.4 million calculated on the basis of its Eurosystem key.

The corrections to monetary income reallocation of previous years, amounting to EUR 1.6 million, concern the re-
calculation and reallocation of monetary income for 2023.

The net result contains the Bank of Greece’s share of the realised loss in relation to the sale in 2024 of an impaired
security held by an NCB of the Eurosystem in its PEPP-CORP portfolio, as well as the usage of the provision of
EUR 1.1 million established in 2023 for this purpose (see note on liability item 11.2.c “Provision against losses arising
from monetary policy operations").

Moreover, the same item includes the realised loss incurred by the Bank from the corporate restructuring, within
2024, of an issuer whose securities were held by an NCB under the CSPP and PEPP-CORP portfolios.

The analysis of the net result of the Bank of Greece’s monetary income in its various components is presented in
the table below.

Analysis of the net result of the Bank of Greece’s monetary income

(EUR million) Monetary Total Monetary Result Result
income monetary income of pooling of pooling
pooled income reallocation  of monetary  of monetary

pooled by the based on the income income
Eurosystem Eurosystem
NCBs key
(a) (b) (b-a)
2024 2023

Lending to euro area credit institutions
related to monetary policy operations 370.5 6,709.5 151.6 -218.9 -85.1
denominated in euro

Securities held for monetary policy } )
purposes (risk sharing) 671.4 8,202.2 185.3 486.1 3494

Securities held for monetary policy
purposes (no-risk sharing)’ 1,389.6 130,280.6 2,943.5 1,553.9 1,856.5

Claims equivalent to the transfer of
foreign reserves to the ECB 32.7 1.448.3 32.7 0.0 0.0

Net claims(+) / net liabilities(-) related to
the allocation of euro banknotes within 1,073.0 -5,231.8 -118.2 -1,191.2 -986.7
the Eurosystem

Liabilities to euro area credit institutions

related to monetary policy operations -890.6 -120,846.9 -2,730.3 -1,839.7 -2,126.7
denominated in euro

Claims(+) /liabilities(-) related to TARGET -4,660.4 15,608.3 352.6 5,013.0 4,689.2
GAP (difference between earmarkable

assets and the liability base) -318.1 8,864.4 200.2 518.3 375.1
Total -2,331.9 45,034.6 1,017.4 3,349.3 3,372.9

1 Inthe monetary income calculation, these securities are assumed to generate income at the latest available interest rate used by the Eurosystem in
its tenders for Main Refinancing Operations (MRO) rate. Therefore, the amount pooled differs from the one included in the net interest income (see
amount of EUR 495.7 million from the Sovereign Debt Securities under the PEPP portfolio in the table of note 1.1.b of the Profit and Loss Account,
"Interest income on securities held for monetary policy purposes”).

4. Net income from fees and commissions

The individual categories of net income from fees and commissions are as follows:
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Net income from fees and commissions

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change

4.1 Fees and commissions income

Remuneration for the management of the “Common Capital of Legal 104.4 931 113
Entities in Public Law & Social Security Funds” - Law 2469/97

gcc))\;gmlrsns(leonr;s on receipts and payments on behalf of the Greek 292 274 18
Remuneration for managing Greek government securities 11.2 13.5 -2.3
Contributions of insurance undertakings for supervision services 5.1 4.7 0.4
Income from participation in the Electronic Secondary Securities Market 16 18 0.2
(HDAT)

Other fees and commissions 6.7 8.0 -1.3
Total 158.2 148.5 9.7
4.2 Fees and commissions expense -9.9 -9.8 -0.1
4. Net income from fees and commissions 148.3 138.7 9.6

5. Income from equity instruments and participating interests

Income from equity instruments and participating interests
(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
Income from the decrease in the weighting of the Bank of Greece in

the ECB's capital 69.6 0.0 69.6
Income from the ECB 69.6 0.0 69.6
Other income from equity instruments and participating interests 5.7 4.0 1.7
Total 75.3 4.0 71.3

In particular:

Income from the ECB

During the current year, income amounting to EUR 69.6 million was recognised due to the decrease in the weight-
ing of the Bank of Greece in the ECB’s capital, following the adjustment of the NCBs’ keys for subscription to the
ECB'’s capital that takes place every five years (see asset item 9.1 “Participating interest in the ECB").

During the current and the previous year, the ECB did not distribute a dividend to the NCBs, since its total financial
result was negative.

Other income from equity instruments and participating interests

In the current year, other income from equity instruments and participating interests amounted to EUR 5.7 million,
up by EUR 1.7 million compared to the previous year (2023: EUR 4.0 million). The aforementioned income consists
mostly in dividends received from the Bank’s participation in the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) and the
DIAS Interbanking Systems.

6. Other income

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
Income from production of goods 12.3 11.8 0.5
Other operating income 8.7 6.2 2.5
Result of real estate assets’ impairment/reversal of impairment 0.0 23.8 -23.8
Total 21.0 41.8 -20.8

Other income includes income of EUR 12.3 million (2023: EUR 11.8 million), which comes from the production of
goods of the Printing Works Department (IETA), mainly on behalf of the Greek government (coins, passports, entry
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visas, tobacco tax strips, lottery tickets), as well as other operating income of EUR 8.7 million (2023: EUR 6.2 mil-
lion), from the Bank of Greece’s participation in Eurosystem projects, real estate management, accreditation fees,
etc.

Income amounting to EUR 23.8 million was recognised in the previous year, mainly due to a partial reversal of an
impairment loss on real estate incurred in previous years (see note on asset item 11.2 “Tangible and intangible fixed
assets”).

EXPENSE

7. Staff costs and pension benefit expenses

Staff costs and pension benefit expenses

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
Staff wages and other benefits 218.1 200.2 17.9
Expenses of defined benefit plans 104.5 92.1 12.4
Total 322.6 292.3 30.3

In the current year, staff costs and pension benefit expenses increased by a total of EUR 30.3 million compared to
the previous year, due to higher expenses for staff wages, other benefits and defined benefit plans.

Specifically, staff wages and other benefits rose following the implementation of the new firm-level agreement
and the provisions of Law 5053/2023 concerning seniority benefits, as well as an increase in staff number.

The expenses of the defined benefit plans, which are recognised on the Profit and Loss Account, are derived from
actuarial studies and are presented in detail in the note on liability item 11.2.b “Provisions for staff benefits".

8. Other administrative expenses

Other administrative expenses

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
Software rights — Cost of developing and operating management 13.2 13.0 0.2
information systems

Consumption of materials and stationery 12.4 6.9 55
Third party fees 10.9 10.8 0.1
Rent, property and equipment maintenance/repair expenses 7.0 6.5 0.5
Publications and subscriptions 6.1 5.5 0.6
Expenses for lighting, water supply, heating and phone charges 4.3 5.1 -0.8
Taxes-fees 1.5 1.6 -0.1
Donations-grants-assistance 1.4 1.8 -04
Other expenses 11.0 12.4 -1.4
Total 67.8 63.6 4.2

During the current year, other management expenses increased by EUR 4.2 million compared to the previous year,
mainly due to the rising consumption of materials for the production of goods in the Printing Works Department
(IETA).

9. Depreciation of tangible and intangible fixed assets
Depreciation and amortisation costs amounted to EUR 13.7 million, compared with EUR 11.9 million in the previous

year, up by EUR 1.8 million. The depreciation expense per fixed asset category are presented in the note on asset
item 11.2 “Tangible and intangible fixed assets”.
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10. Provisions

Provisions

(EUR million) 2024 2023 Change
Expenses from special provisions -107.0 -77.4 -29.6
Income from risk provisions 158.0 0.0 158.0
Total 51.0 -77.4 128.4

During the current year, provisions had a positive contribution of EUR 51.0 million to the Profit and Loss Account,
compared with a negative effect of EUR 77.4 million in the previous year.

Specifically, special provisions of EUR 90.8 million were established (2023: EUR 86.0 million), concerning mainly
pending lawsuits by pensioners of the Bank. At the same time, special provisions of EUR 17.0 million (2023: release
of EUR 8.5 million) for additional liabilities regarding the retirement of current employees were established, the
amount of which was approximated by an actuarial study. In addition, established special provisions of EUR 0.8
million were released (2023: EUR 0.1 million), concerning other pending lawsuits against the Bank.

The total losses of EUR 24.9 million (2023: EUR 12.8 million) from the year-end revaluation of foreign exchange
and securities were offset by transferring an equal amount from the provision established against financial and
operational risks (see note 2 of the Profit and Loss Account “Net result of financial operations and write-downs").
Additionally, provisions against financial risks amounting to EUR 133.1 million were released following a decision
by the Bank's Risk Management Committee.

The provisions for the current and the previous year are presented in detail in the note on liability item 11 “Provi-
sions”.
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VI. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Off-balance-sheet (memorandum) items

Off-balance-sheet (memorandum) items

(EUR million) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023 Change

1. Greek government securities relating to the management of
the “Common Capital of Legal Entities in Public Law & Social 72,615.0 68,985.7 3,629.3
Security Funds” according to Law 2469/97

2. Greek government securities and other debt securities relating
to the management and custody of assets of public entities, social 5,753.7 5,685.4 68.3
security funds and private agents

3. Assets eligible as collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy

operations and intraday credit ZAFRLA 2ibe2l “8,020.0
4. Other off-balance-sheet items 9,942.7 11,349.2 -1,406.5
Total 111,755.8 115,602.4 -3,846.6

Other off-balance-sheet items include:

- The Hellenic Republic’s liability to the IMF arising from SDR allocations of SDR 3,110.3 million (EUR 3,902.9 million
on 31.12.2024, compared with EUR 3,786.9 million on 31.12.2023).

- Securities pledged as collateral to the Bank of Greece for participation in securities lending programmes of
EUR 4,147.6 million on 31.12.2024, compared with EUR 5,599.2 million on 31.12.2023.

- Documentary credits to be executed, third-party guarantees for good performance, euro coins in the Bank’s
warehouse, Greek government securities, government-owned securities held for custody, totalling EUR 1,843.3
million on 31.12.2024, compared with EUR 1,888.0 million on 31.12.2023.

- Foreign currency spot transactions from the transaction date to the settlement date (application of the economic
approach to the presentation of these transactions in the balance sheet), warrants and sale of bond futures in
foreign currency, totalling EUR 48.9 million on 31.12.2024, compared with EUR 75.1 million on 31.12.2023.

2. Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, there were pending lawsuits against the Bank of Greece in relation to its general operations
amounting to EUR 113.0 million (31.12.2023: EUR 119.4 million), for which no provisions have been established.

After evaluating the current legal framework and the individual facts in dispute, the Administration judges, based
on the existing chances of success of these lawsuits, that there is no reason to establish provisions on 31.12.2024.
3. Other information

Number of staff
On 31.12.2024, the total staff numbered 2,010, while on 31.12.2023 it numbered 1,952.

Agreement with the Central Bank of Cyprus

The Bank of Greece manages part of the ECB’s reserve assets that have been transferred by the Bank of Greece
and the Central Bank of Cyprus, based on a pooling agreement between the two NCBs. The agreement was signed
in 2009 and is of indefinite duration. Management is carried out at the Bank in accordance with the framework
and directives of the ECB.

4. Post-balance-sheet events

Change in the reference rate used for the remuneration of “Intra-Eurosystem balances":
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On 13 March 2024, the Governing Council of the ECB3' decided on a set of principles that will guide monetary
policy implementation in the future, and that, amongst other key parameters, it will continue to steer the monetary
stance through the Deposit Facility Rate (DFR). In the same context, the Governing Council decided that from
1 January 2025 the DFR will become the basis of calculation for the remuneration rate for: (i) TARGET balances, (ii)
claims/liabilities related to the allocation of euro banknotes within the Eurosystem, and (iii) claims equivalent to
the transfer of foreign reserves.

The DFR will also be the rate to apply for the remuneration of the difference between the value of earmarkable
assets and the liability base, as well as the remuneration of certain monetary policy security holdings for monetary
income sharing purposes (see note 3 of the Profit and Loss Account “Net result of pooling of monetary income™).

5. Independent auditor’s services
The auditing firm ERNST & YOUNG (GREECE) Certified Auditors Accountants S.A. is the legal independent auditor

for the year that ended on 31 December 2024. The following table presents the total fees for audit services for
2024 and 2023.

Independent auditor’s fees

(in euro) 2024 2023
Audit service fees 170,000 180,000
Fees for other audit services 28,000 31,000
Total 198,000 211,000

Athens, 4 March 2025

THE GOVERNOR FINANCIAL DEPARTMENT
THE DIRECTOR THE ACCOUNTANT
YANNIS STOURNARAS YANNIS ASIMAKOPOULOS THEOCHARIS NTOVAS

License No Class A 0137991

31 See ECB press release of 13.3.2024 Changes to the operational framework for implementing monetary policy.
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